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NOTES

RELATIVE TO

THE LATE TRANSACTIONS

IN THE

MARHATTA EMPIRE.

THE predatory states composing the Marhatta power have never
been united under any regular form of confederation, or by any system
of constitutional laws, or of established treaties, which can be com-
pared to any imperial constitution or general confederation existing in
Europe. A vague and indefinite sentiment of common interest how-
ever, founded principally upon their common origin and civil and
religious usages, and upon their common habits of conquest and de-
predation, has established a certain degree of union amongst them,
from the period of their first success, throughout every stage of the
decline of the Moghul empire: the same indefinite but acknowledged
confederacy has subsisted between the Marhattas since the entire de-
struction of the Moghul empire, and, together with other causes, has
enabled several of these adventurers to erect states of considerable
military resource and political power.

The power of the peishwah however for many years-past has been
acknowledged by all the Marhatta states*, and universally by all the

* The rajah of Berar does not deny the nominal supremacy of the rajah of Sattarah,
whose authority is represented by the peishwah, nor the sovereign executive powers an-
nexed to the hereditary office of peishwah; but he claims the office of peishwah for himself
in right of his descent from the family of Sevajee, the ancestor of the rajah of Sattaraby,

and the founder of the Marhatta power. .
B other

For an account
of the consti-
tution of the



Marhatta em-
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other states of India, to be the constitutional representative of the
sovereign executive authority of the Marhatta empire, and the prin-
cipal chieftains have been considered ostensibly as the subjects and
officers of the peishwah’s government.

The British government therefore has concluded its general treaties
with theMarhattas through the authority of the peishwah; and although
in some of those engagements individual chieftains have been admitted
to act as guarantees, the independent right of the peishwah to con-
clude treaties with any power in India has never been denied; nor has
it ever been attempted to assert a claim on the part of any of the
chieftains, to limit the independent right of the peishwah to form
treaties and alliances without the advice or consent of any chieftain of
the Marhatta empire.

On the other hand, these chieftains have exercised the right of con-
cluding treaties and alliances, independently of the peishwah’s autho-
rity, and without his sanction or concurrence; and the British go-
vernment recently concluded a treaty of subsidy with the guikwar,
without the previous sanction of the peishwah; reserving, however, all
the peishwah’s rights in the state of the guikwar.

At the commencement of the war against Tippoo Sultaun, in
the year 1789, lord Cornwallis, in forming a defensive alliance with
the Marhatta power against the power of Mysore, resorted to the
peishwah’s acknowledged authority as the best security for such an
alliance, and accordingly negotiated, and concluded on the Ist of June
1790, the treaty of Poonah with the peishwah, without reference to
any of the subordinate chieftains.

In that war, the assistance which lord Cornwallis derived from the
Marhattas proceeded exclusively from the peishwah’s authority, aided
by
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by the feudal tributaries immediately subject to the state of Poonah.
Neither Scindiah nor the rajah of Berar were parties to that alliance;
and it is well known that Mahdajee Scindia was adverse to its prin-
ciples and objects; and that at the close of that war in 1792 Mahdajee

Scindiah moved his army towards Poonah, with intentions unfavour-
able to the British interests.

At the conclusion of the war in 1792 the peishwah was a party to
the treaty of peace at Seringapatam; nor was any attempt made at that
time to assert a claim on thé part of the subordinate chieftains of the
Marhatta empire to be consulted in that important arrangement, which
established a new balance of power throughout India, by the reduc-
tion of the power of Mysore, by the augmentation of the British ter-
ritories and of those of the nizam, and finally of the separate here-
ditary territories of the peishwah.

In the division therefore of Tippoo Sultaun’s territory, and of his
treasure, which followed the treaty of Seringapatam in 1792, the peish-
wah obtained a considerable accession of territory to his hereditary
dominions, and a large sum of money, without the advice, consent, or
participation of any subordinate chieftain of the Marhatta empire.

When lord Cornwallis, in the course of the year 1793, proposed a
general defensive alliance to the Marhatta power and to the nizam,
his lordship addressed the proposition to the peishwah, and received,
as conclusive, a reply from the peishwah through the durbar of
Poonah, without any reference to the subordinate chieftains,

The policy of considering the authority of the peishwah as the le-
gitimate and constitutional representative of the Marhatta power was
wise and just. It is evident that the acknowledged authority of the
peishwah furnished the most secure basis of an amicable alliance be-

B2 tween
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tween the British government in India and the Marhatta power, and
at the same time afforded the most just and effectual means of con-
trolling the predatory spirit of the subordinate chieftains, and of
checking any disposition which might arise amongst them of a ten-
dency adverse to the British interests, or to the general tranquillity of
India.

Some of these chieftains, however, appear to have considered the
alliance between the British government and the peishwah to be adverse
to their interests; and although its tendency at all times has been rather
to secure than to disturb the feudatory Marhatta states in the pos-
session of their separate. territories and distinct rights, their characte-
ristic spirit of habitual rapacity and lawless ambition has inclined them
to view with jealousy an alliance, the vigour and efliciency of which
must always have opposed obstacles to any invasion of the legitimate
authority of the peishwah.

During the period of time which elapsed between the conclusion of
the peace of Seringapatam in 1792 and the commencement of lord
Wellesley’s administration in India in May 1798, the rapacity and
ambition of Dowlut Rao Scindiah * had impaired  the authority of
the peishwah to such a degree, as to have frustrated every benefit
which lord Cornwallis intended to secure to the British interests by
the alliance with the peishwah.

* Ranojee Scindiah, an officer in the service of Bajee Rao the first peishwab, had five
sons, one of whom died young; the other four were Jye Appa Scindiah, Dutta Jee Puttail,
Kiddar Rao Scindiah, and Madhajee Scindiah. Jye Appa Scindiah was killed in Jodepoor.
Dutta Jee Puttail was killed in the vicinity of Delhi, in a battle with Nujeeb-oo-Dowlah,
the governor of the district of Seharanpoor. Kiddar Rao Scindiah died a natural death.
Madhajee Scindiah died on the 12th of February 1794, without male issue, aud was suc-

ceeded on the 3d of March following by his adopted son Dowlut Rao Scindigh, who is
the son of Kiddar Rao Scindiah.

Dowlut
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Dowlut Rao Scindiah had absolutely usurped the government of
Poonah, and had established himself in the vicinity of that city with a
powerful army, the regular infantry and artillery of which had been
disciplined, and were then commanded principally, by French officers.

When lord Wellesley, at the close of the year 1798, required the
peishwah, in consequence of Tippoo Sultaun’s aggression, to fulfill the
conditions of the subsisting defensive alliance against Mysore, the
justice of that demand was deemed irresistible, even by the perverse
counsels of Poonah under the undue influence of Dowlut Rao Scin-
diah. The peishwah’s ministers therefore ostensibly acquiesced in the
demand; and that experienced statesman Nana Furnavees, who was
then verging to the close of his career, would certainly have fulfilled
the conditions of the alliance, had not the wisdom of his advice been
overborne by the violence of Dowlut Rao Scindiah.

Under this overbearing influence, notwithstanding the acquiescence
of the court of Poonah in the justice and necessity of the war against
Tippoo Sultaun in 1798, and notwithstandingthe peishwah’s declaration
of his intention to co-operate in that war according to the terms of the
subsisting alliance, the Marhattas not only afforded no assistance to the
British government in the prosecution of the war, which terminated
on the fourth of May 1799, but actually maintained a secret and -
treacherous cofrespondence with Tippoo Sultaun and his ministers and
officers down to the period of the fall of Seringapatam; and even after
that memorable event, the emissaries of the Marhatta government
(under the domination of Scindiah, who then governed the durbar of
Poonah,) attempted to excite the family and remaining officers of the
deceased sultaun to resist the settlement of Mysore.

Notwithstanding the entire failure of the peishwah in discharging

the obligations of public faith to the British government under the al-
liance
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liance concluded by lord Cornwallis with the Marhatta power, lord
Wellesley, in dividing Tippoo Sultaun’s dominions in the year 1799,
offered a considerable share of territory to the peishwah. The go-
vernor general, however, annexed to this liberal grant conditions cal-
culated to revive the alliance with the peishwah on a secure basis. The
peishwah, therefore, was induced by Dowlut Rao Scindiah to reject the
proffered grant; and consequently the territory which had been des-
tined for the Marhattas was divided between the remaining allies, the
nizam and the British government.

Propositions of the most amicable nature were at the same time of-
fered to Dowlut Rao Scindiah : but when it is recollected that the most
efficient part of his military power was under the command and in-
fluence of French adventurers, his rejection of all friendly overtures
from the British government may be traced to other causes, in addi-
tion to that spirit of usurpation and plunder which urged him to seize
the government of Poonah, to prohibit the peishwah from cementing
the ties of amity with his highness’s antient ally the company, and even
to compel that unfortunate prince to violate his public faith with the
company, at the expense not only of reputation and honour, but of
every interest which the peishwah could be supposed to feel as a sove-
reign prince, in the independence of his own authority, in the security

of his own power, and in the extension of his hereditary territory and
revente.

Previously, therefore, to the commencement of the last war in
Mysore, the usurpation of a subordinate chieftain of the Marhatta
empire had in effect dissolved the alliance formed by lord Cornwallis
with the Marhatta power, upon the basis of the peishwah’s authority ;
and Dowlut Rae Scindiah, the chieftain by whose usurpation the al-
liance between the Marhatta power and the British government had
been dissolved, had effected that object by the presence of a powerful

army
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army formed under the command of French adventurers, and consi-
derably advanced in discipline, military skill and science, under a
system of which the further progress will appear in the narrative of the
events of the present war.

The destruction of the hostile power of Mysore, accompanied by
the consolidation of our alliances with the court of Hyderabad, had
left no antagonist to the British government among the native states in _
India, excepting the Marhatta power. ' ' '

The Marhatta states, unconnected with any European ally, could
never become formidable to the British government, excepting in the
event of an actual union of the feudal chiefs of the empire under an
efficient sovereign power, or in the event of a revolution, which should
unite the command of the resources of a large portion of the Marhatta
territory in the hands of an active and enterprising chief. Such,events,
however to be deprecated, might have been encountered without ap-
prehension by the British government, in the commanding position of
its foreign relations, and in the vigorous condition of its internal re- .
sources and concentrated strength.

But it was obviously prudent to employ every endeavour to effect
such an arrangement as should preclude the union of the Marhatta
states under any circumstances which might menace interruption to
. the tranquillity of our possessions, or of those of our allies. With
this view, it appeared to be expedient to receive under the protection of
the general defensive system, of which the foundation was laid by the
treaty with the nizam concluded in 1800, such of the Marhatta states
as might be disposed to enter into subsidiary engagements with the
British government. On this principle, a subsidiary treaty was con-
cluded with the guikwar in 1802, the operation of which attached that

state
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state to the company, and secured to the company a valuable and im-
portant territorial establishment in the maritime province of Guzerat.
The most effectual arrangement, however, for securing the British go-
vernment against any danger from the Marhatta states, appeared to be
an intimate alliance with the acknowledged sovereign power of the
Marhatta empire, founded upon principles which should render the
British influence and military force the main support of that power.
Such an arrangement appeared to afford the best security for preserving
a due balance between the several states constituting the confederacy
of the Marhatta empire, as well as for preventing any dangerous union
or diversion of the resources of that empire.

It has always been a principal object of the British government, to

prevent the sovereign power of the Marhatta state, or the power of any

great branch of the Marhatta empire, from passing into the hands of .

France, While the views of the government of France shall be di-

. rected to the establishment of its authority within the peninsula of

Hindostan, it is manifestly the policy of the British government to ac-

complish such a system of alliances with the powers of India, as may

preclude the occurrence of those internal convulsions which would

: afford to France the most favourable opportunity of effecting her am-
, bitious purpose.

The disturbed state of the Marhatta empire would have afforded
an advantageous opportunity to the government of France for the
successful prosecution of its favourite object, of establishing a domi-
nion within the peninsula of Hindostan, by the introduction of a mi-
litary force, for the purpose of aiding the cause of one of the contend-
ing parties; and the views of France would have been materially

For anaccount favoured by the strength and efficiency of monsieur Perron’s force,

of mons. Per-

zous force, 3 established with a great territorial dominion extending towards the left
bank
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bank of the Indus through the Punjaub*, and comprehending Agra,
Delhi, and a large portion of the doab of the Jumna and Ganges, on
the most vulnerable part of our north-western frontier of Hindostan ;
and holding the person and nominal authority of the unfortunate Shah
Aulum: (the deposed Moghul emperor) in the most ab_]ect and de-

grading subjection T,

The endeavours of the governor general have therefore Seen em-
ployed, for some years past, to establish, between the peishwah and the

* Punjaul, (or the country of the Five Rivers,) the country contained between the five
branches of the river Indus, from the 30th to the 32d degree of north latitude, and from
the 70th to the 75th degree of cast longitude. -

+ The annual revenue of the countries subject to monsieur Perron, derived from the ter-
ritorial possessions as well as from other resources, are stated to haye amounted to one

- crore and thirty-five lacs of rupees, -or about 1,700,0001. sterling.

Although the regular corpsin Scindiah’s service were first formed by monsieur de Boigne,
it was his practice to admit into the service British as well as French officers 5 but since his
resignation, the object of snonsieur Perron (who succeeded to his authority) has been di-
rected to the exclusion of British officers, and to the establishment of a military power
exclusively commanded by Frenchmen. This plan had been carried into effect with con-
.siderable success ; and monsieur Perron, it is supposed, only waited the arrival of French
officers, to dismiss the wholebody of British officers remaining in the service of Scindiah.

Dowlut Rao Scindiah holds the appointment of deputy to the vaquel ul mutuluk, which
last is an office similar to that of a regent or viceroy, exercising almost independent powers

“of sovereignty under the great moghul. \ ' ' '

The office of vaquel ul mutuluk being holden by the peishwah, Scindiah in his quality
of deputy administered the affairs of the nominal Moghul empire ; and the fiction was car-
ried to so great alength, that mousieur Perron called his army the < imperial army,” and
himself a servant and subject of the emperor or great moghul.

There is every reason to believe that the government of France intended to make the un-
fortunate emperor of Hindostan the main instrument of their designs in India, and to avail
themselves of the authority of his majesty’s name to re-establish their influence and power.
A plan to this effect was actually submitted to the chief consul of France, in 1801, by an
officer who afterwards accompanicd general Decaen to India in 1803. A copy of thisplan
is now in the possession of the governor general.

C : British

well as the
whole of Scin-
diah's army, see
Appendix B,
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British government, such a connection as might secure the stability
and efficiency of the peishwah’s authority, under the protection of the
British power, without injury to the rights of the feudatory chieftains
of the Marhatta empire.

The efforts of the governor general for that purpose were renewed
at those seasons of difficulty and danger when the peishwah’ inde-
pendence was controlled, and when the existence of his government
was exposed to hazard, by the violence, rapacity, and ambition of his
feudatory chieftains. Had the peishwah then assented to the moderate
and salutary propositions which were offered to his acceptance, he could
not have been exposed to the disastrous event by which (on the 25th of
October 1802) he was expelled from Poonah, by which his authority
was subverted, his person endangered, and his country and capital
abandoned to devastation and plunder.

Notwithstanding the frequent disappointments which occurred in
the accomplishment of his salutary views, the governor general de-
termined, in the month of June 1802, to renew his negotiations for the
conclusion of an improved system of alliance with the court of
Poonah. The increased distractions of the Marhatta state, and the
successes of Jeswunt Rao Holkar, (an illegitimate son of the late
Tuckojee Holkar,) against the forces of Scindiah, appeared to constitute
a crisis of affairs favourable to the complete establishment of the in-
terests of the British power in the Markatta empire, without the hazard
of involving it in a contest with any party.

The danger to which Scindiah’s separate dominions and hereditary
interests had been exposed by the success of Holkar, and the ruin
which must have ensued to Scindiah’s affairs if Holkar had been able
to establish himself in the wsurpation of the peishwah's government,
appeared to constitute sufficient motives to counterbalance both Scin-

diah’s
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diah’s jealousy of the. British power, and his inordinate desire of

usurping the same authority at Poonah, which Holkar was prepared to
seize. Scindiah’s immediate personal safety was endangered, and the
restoration of the peishwah under the British protection at that
moment offered the only probable means of affording Scindiah a
respite from the violence of Holkar. On the other hand, Holkar, being
a mere adventurer, and his resources and power altogether precarious,
might have been expected to relinquish without regret his pursuits
of irregular ambition and temporary rapine at Poonah, for the more
secure and substantial benefit of a permanent establishment under the
British protection.

In the course of the discussions which ensued between his highness
the peishwah and the British resident, in consequence of the governor
general’s instructions of the 23d of June 1802, the peishwah mani-
fested considerable anxiety to contract engagements with the British
government, but continued (under the terror of that ascendancy
which Scindiah, although absent, still continued to maintain over the
counsels of the peishwah, and with the habitual irresolution of a Mar-
hatta,) to withhold his consent to any admissible modification of the
governor general's propositions, until Jeswunt Rao Holkar actually ar-
rived at the head of a large army in the neighbourhood of Poonah.
The combined army of the peishwah and of Scindiah marched from
Poonah under the command of Suddasheo Bhow, for the purpose of
encountering Holkar’s force. On the 25th of October 1802 the two
armies engaged ; and on the same day the peishwah sent his minister
to the British resident with a paper, desiring the establishment of a
subsidiary force of six battalions of sepoys, with the usual comple-
ment of ﬁrtillery, and conveying a sunnud (or grant) for territory to
the annual amount of twenty-five lacks of rupees, proposed to be ceded
in perpetuity to the honourable company, for the payment of that

force. 'The minister at the same time assured the resident of the
c2 peishwah’s

180¢.

S
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peishv{rah’s carnest desire that a general defensive alliance should be
concluded and carried into effect, at the earliest practicable period of
time, between his highnessiand the company, on the principles of the
treaty concluded at Flyderabad in the month of October 1800. No
reason existed to warrant a doubtof the Peishwah’s sincerity to the ex-
tent compatible with the timidity of his character. His highness might
be deemed to be indifferent to the success of either contending party,
and to be equally menaced by the usurpation of Scindiah and by that
of Holkar. The approach of Holkar, however, relieved the Peishwah
from any immediate fear of Scindiah, and left his highness at liberty
to embrace the British protection.

The governor general ratified this engagement on the day on which
he received it, and signified to the peishwah his determination to em-
ploy every effort of the British power for the restoration of his high-
ness’s just authority. ~With a view to include the several branches of
the Marhatta empire in the proposed general alliance, the governor ge-
neral availed himself of this opportunity to remew his invitation to
Dowlut Rao Scindiah to partake the benefits of the treaty proposed -to
be concluded with the peishwah, and accordingly directed colonel
Collins to proceed from Futty Ghur to Scindiah’s camp, for the pur-
pose of proposing the terms on which Scindiah might be admitted
to the benefits of the general defensive engagements already concluded
with the peishwah. ’

The engagement between the combined army of the peishwah and
Scindiah, and that commanded by Holkar, terminated in the total de-
feat of the former with considerable loss. After the action, the
peishwah retired with an inconsiderable body of cavalry to a fortress
in the vicinity of Poonah, whence he prosecuted his march towards the
Cokan*,

* The narrow tract of country along the western coast of India, contained between the
province of Canara and Bombay, and bounded by the western ghauts,

4 The
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The object of Holkar was to obtain possession of the person of his
highness the peishwah, and ta compel his highness to establish such an
administration as might secure Holkar’s ascendancy, to the exclusion
of Scindiah’s power. In the event of the failure of this project, the
second plan of Holkar was to invite to Poonah Amrut Rao, (the
adopted son of the late Ragobah,) to place the son of Amrut Rao on the
musnud, and invest Amrut Rao with the office of prime minister,
Holkar himself was to assume the general command of the troops of
the state. '

Finding that the peishwah had effected his retreat to Mhar, a fortin
the Cokan, situated on the river of Bancoote, Holkar detached a force
to Jejoory, a fort about thirty miles south-east of Poonah, and the
actual residence of Amrut Rao, and brought that chieftain to Poonah
for the purpose of carrying this plan into execution; and although
Amrut Rao appears to have been adverse to the arrangement, the af-
fairs of government were, in conformity to Holkar’s plan, conducted
at Poonah under the authority of Amrut Rao’s name.

In the mean while the peishwah signified to the government of
Bombay, that it was his highness’s intention to seek refuge at that pre-
sidency; and his highness actually availed himself of the offer which
had been made to him of the ship Herculean, for the purpose of con-
veying him from Mhar to a strong fort in another part of the Cokan,
named Savendroog, where his person was likely to be perfectly secure
against the attempts of the rebels and usurpers.

In the existing state of the affairs of the Marhatta empire, it would
have been a measure of indispensable precaution to have assembled a
considerable army of observation upon the frontier of the Marhatta
territories, for the purpose of securing our own provinces, and those

of our allies the nizam and the rajah of Mysore, against the attack of
the

1502.
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the chiefs at Poonal, as well as of repelling the predatory incursion of
any vagrant freebooter, whom the issue of the contest might compel
to seek subsistence in the British dominions, or in those of our allies.
These important considerations, combined with the application made to
the governor of Fort St. George by the resident at Poonah, acting
under the orders of the governor general, induced lord Clive, earlyin
the month of November 1802, to assemble a considerable force at
Hurryhur*, on the north-western frontier of Mysore, without waiting
the arrival of direct instructions from the governor general for that
purpose. The governor of Bombay pursued the same wise and salu-
tary course of vigilance and precaution, by preparing for immediate
service the disposable force at that presidency. A considerable detach-
ment of the subsidiary force at Hyderabad was also ordered, by the re-
sident at that court, to be prepared for eventual service in the field, in
conformity to a requisition for that purpose from the resident at

Poonah,

During these  transactions several conferences were holden at
Poonah between the resident lieutenant-colonel Close, Holkar, and
Amrut Rao, in which both these chieftains expressed their solicitude

* Force assembled at Hurrybhur under the command of lieutenant-general Stuart.

CavaLry. Eur. Nal. Total. ABSTRACT.
H. M. 19th dra- Cavalry, - - - 3581
goons, }975 2606—3581 Artillery, L = 300
25th do. European infantry, - - 2845
. Artillery - 300 — 390 Native infantry, - - 12,182
Gun lascars - - 563  m————
INFANTRY. 18,008
5 companies of H. M. With 800 pioneers, and 563 gun las-
33d regiment, cars; with 4 iron twelve- and 4 iron eighteen-
H. M. 73d ditto, 2,845 pounders ; 4 brass twelve-pounders ; 40 field-
H. M. 74th ditto, pieces, 12 galloper guns, and 4 howitzers.
H. M. Scotch brigade, '
12 batts. of sepoys, 12,182
- 15,027
Total 18,998

for
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for the preservation of the friendship of the British government, and  1s02.
directly and earnestly applied to the resident for his advice and me- ey
diation in effecting an accommodation with the peishwah. About

the same time the governor general also received a letter from Dowlut

Rao Scindiah, under date the 24th of November, soliciting the con-
tinuance of the friendship of the British government towards his state

and that of the peishwah, and containing a request that the governor

general would act in concert with Scindiah during the existing crisis

of affairs at Poonah.

Having with difficulty obtained permission to quit Poonah, lieu-
tenant-colonel Close, the British resident, left that capital on the 28th November gs.
of November, and reached Bombay on the 8d of December. The pecembers.
capital of the Marhatta empire remained in the possession of the re-
bels and usurpers. Towards the end of the month of November the
peishwah embarked from Savendroog under convoy of the Herculean,
and arrived at Bassein on the 16th of December, attended by a small pecember 15. -
escort of about one hundred and thirty followers. His highness was
immediately waited upon by lieutenant-colonel Close, and the 18th of
December was fixed for the day on which the peishwah would enter
on the discussion of the definitive treaty with the British government.
Accordingly, early in the morning of the 18th of December 1802, licu- pecember 15.
tenant-colonel Close attended the peishwah at his highness’s place of
residence on the island of Bassein, and submitted to his highness’s
consideration a draft of the definitive treaty of alliance proposed to be
concluded. The discussion lasted until sun-set, by which time the
peishwah and his ministers agreed to the draft, with some alterations
which were admitted by colonel Close. The treaty was signed, sealed, Efij;‘;"j;’ o
and delivered on the 31st December 1802 at Bassein, and on the 18th ** o«
of March 1803 the peishwah received the counterpart of the treaty, 1803
ratified by the governor general in council, with demonstrations of the Treaty of Bas

" “ ‘. sein ratified by
highest satisfaction. :
: In
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the governor
general in
council, 19th
February., Re-
ceived by the
peishwali on
the I8thMarch.
Vide Appendix
C
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In conformity to the plan of operations which the governor general
had directed to be adopted for the restoration of the peishwah to the
musnud at Poonah, the whole of the subsidiary force * stationed with
his highness the nizam, amounting to about 8368 men, marched from
Hyderabad at the close of the month of February, and on the 25th of
March reached the town of Paraindah, a station on the western fron-
tier of the nizam’s dominions, situated at the distance of one hundred
and sixteen miles from Poonah. The subsidiary force was accom-
panied by 6,000 of the nizam’s disciplined infantry, and about 9,000
cavalry, under leaders of approved valour and attachment.

Under instructions from the governor general of the 2d of February
1803, lord Clive, aided by the judgment of lieutenant-general Stuart,
was empowered to determine the time at which it might be proper for
the British troops to advance into the Marhatta territories, and the
amount of the force to be detached from the main army assembled on
the frontier of Mysore for that purpose.

Adverting to the importance and expediency of securing the early
arrival of the British troops at Poonah, lord Clive on the 27th of Febru-
ary instructed licutenant-general Stuart, then present with the army
on the frontier of Mysore, to adopt the necessary measures for the
march of the British troops into the Marhatta territory, leaving it to
the judgment of lieutenant-general Stuart to determine the amount

of the force necessary to be detached from the main body of the
army.

The command of the advanced detachment necessarily required the
united exertion of considerable military skill and of great political

* Subsidiary force: two regiments of native cavalry, six battalions of sepoys, and two
companies of artillery.
experience
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experience and discretion; and lord Clive was therefore of opinion,’

that it could not be confided with equal prospects of advantage to any
other person than the honourable major-general Wellesley, whose ex-
tensive local knowledge, and personal influence among the Marhatta
chieftains (acquired by his conduct in the command of Mysore, and
by his victories over Doondiah and other refractory chiefs), were pe-
culiarly calculated to ensure success to the intended operations. Lord
Clive accordingly desired that general Wellesley might be appointed
to the command of the advanced detachment, under instructions to be
furnished to him by lieutenant-general Stuart, according to the spirit
of the governor general’s orders of the 2d of February 1803

In conformity to those instructions, lieutenant-general Stuart di-
rected a detachment from the main army assembled at Hurryhur, to
be formed under the command of major-general Wellesley, for the
purpose of advancing into the Marhatta territory. The detachment
consisted of one regiment of European and three regiments of native
cavalry, two regiments of European and six battalions of native infan-
try, with a due proportion of artillery, amounting altogether to about
9707 men; and to this force were added 2500 of the rajah of Mysore’s
horse *,

Major-general Wellesley commenced his march from Hurryhur on
the 9th of March, and crossed the Tumbudra river on the 12th.  The
progress of the British troops through the Marhatta territories was most
successful They were every where received as friends, and almost all

*Here it may be observed that the power and resources.of Mysore, which had hitherto
been opposed to us in every contest with the native states -of India, were now, in conse-
quence of the conquest of Seringapatam in 1799, applied to the aid of the British govern-
ment, and afforded essential assistance. By the subsidiary treaty of Seringapatam, con-
cluded in 1799, the rajah of Mysore is bound to co-operate in the most effectual manner
with the British government when engaged in hostilities, - et
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the chiefs in the vicinity of the route ,of the detachment joined
with their forces, and accompanied the British army to Poonah.
The amicable conduct of the jagheerdars and of the inhabitants
(arising principally from the fame which the British arms had acquired
in the campaign under major-general Wellesley’s command against
Doondiah Waugh,) contributed to enable our army to perform this
long march, at a most unfavourable season of the year, without loss or
distress. Great merit is also to be ascribed to the ability, temper,
activity, and skill of major-general Wellesley, in directing the system
of the supply and movement of the troops, in preventing plunder and
all excess, and in conciliating the inhabitants of the districts through
which his route was directed.

The nizam’s subsidiary force, under colonel Stevenson, arrived
within a short distance of major-general Wellesley’s force at Aklooss,
a town within eight miles of the Neera river, on the 15th of April, and
was the next day reinforced from major-general Wellesley’s army by
his majesty’s Scotch brigade. Jeswunt Rao Holkar had left Poonah
some time previous to this period, and the native officers who com-
manded the corps which he had detached to the southward retreated
with precipitation as general Wellesley advanced. On the 15th of
April Holkar had reached Chandore (about one hundred and thirty
miles N. N. E. from Poonah), and Amrut Rao alone remained at Poonah
with about 1500 men.

Under these circumstances, it appeared to major-general Wellesley
unnecessary to advance to Poonah all the troops destined to effect the
restoration of the peishwah: and as the country was much exhausted,
and a general deficiency of forage prevailed, general Wellesley deter-
mined to dispose of the troops in such situations that the whole might
procure forage and subsistence, and might easily form a junction in
case that measure should appear to be advisable. Accordingly,

general
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general Wellesley ordered colonel Stevenson to march from his
position near Aklooss to Gardoon, to leave near that place, within the
nizam’s dominions, all his highness’s troops, and to place himself with
the British subsidiary troops in a position on the Beemah river towards
Poonah, near its junction with the Mota Mola river. “

After having completed these arrangements, general Wellesley con-
tinued his march towards Poonah by the road of Baramooty. The
general had received repeated intimations from colonel Close, that
Amrut Rao, who still remained at Poonah, intended to plunder and
burn that city on the approach of the British troops; and at last majer-
general Wellesley received an urgent request from the peishwah, then at
Bassein, to detach some of his highness’s troops in order to provide
for the safety of his highness’s family still remaining at Poonah. It
was obvious that even if general Wellesley could have prevailed on the
officers of the peishwah’s troops to march to Poonah, the force was
not of a description or strength to prevent the execution of Amrut
Rao’s design; and general Wellesley determined, therefore, to move
forward with the British cavalry and the Marhatta troops belonging to
the peishwah, as soon as the British army should arrive within the
distance of a forced march from Poonah. In the mean time intelli-
gence was received that Amrut Rao was still in the neighbourhood of
Poonah on the 18th of April, and that he had removed the peishwah’s
family to the fortress of Saogur, a measure which was generally sup-
posed to be preparatory to the destruction of the city. Major-general
Wellesley therefore marched on the 19th of April 1803, at night, over a
most rugged country, and through a difficult pass (the Little Bhoor-
ghaut), about forty miles, to Poonah, which city he reached at the head
of the cavalry on the 20th, making the total distance marched by the
cavalry, with major-general Wellesley in person at their head, since the

morning of the 19th (thirty-two hours), about sixty miles.
: Amrut
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Amrut Rao heard of the march of the British troops early on the
morning of the 20th, and retired with precipitation, leaving the city in
safety. Major-general Wellesley and the British troops were welcomed
as thesdeliverers of the city by the few inhabitants who remained; and
those who deserted their habitations, and had fled to the adjoining hills
during the usurpation of Holkar, afforded a proof of their confidence
in the British government, by immediately returning to their houses
and by resuming their different occupations. It is a circumstance
equally honourable to the Britishcharacter,and propitious to the British
interests in that quarter of India, that the first effects of the British in-
fluence in the Marhatta dominions should have been displayed in
rescuing the capital of the empire from impending ruin, and its in-
habitants from violence and rapine.

During the progress of these transactions, arrangements were made
at Bombay for the march of the peishwah towards Peonah. A de-
tachment™*, consisting of his majesty’s 78th regiment (which the go-
vernor general embarked from Fort William on the Tth of February,
and which arrived at Bombay on the 5th of April 1808,) five com-
panies of his majesty’s 84th regiment, a proportion of artillery, and
1035 sepoys, was formed and placed under the command of colonel
Murrray of his majesty’s 84th regiment, as an escort to his highness,
who left Bassein, attended by the resident, lieutenant-colonel Close, on
the 27th of April 1803.

* Detachment forming the peishwah’s escort under the command of colonel Murray, of
his majesty’s 84th regiment

Europeans, - - - - 1170
Natives, =~ = - - - 1035
Artillery, R LIRS - - 93

Total - - 2208

‘With. 177 gun lascars.

On
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On the 6th of May the peishwah passed major-general Wellesley’s -

camp neaf Poonah; and on the 13th of the same month his highness,
attended by his brother Chimnajee Appa, and by a numerous train of
the principal chiefs of the Marhatta empire, proceeded towards the city
of Poonah. Having entered his palace, his highness resumed his seat
upon the musnud, and received presents from his principal servants..

During the procession, the British resident, lieutenant-colonel Close,
accompanied by his suite, paid his compliments to his highness, when
a salute was fired by the British troops encamped in the vicinity of
Poonah, under the command of major-general Wellesley: this salute
was immediately answered from the fortress of Saoghur.

While the procession passed the bridge leading into the city, a se-
cond salute was fired from the British camp ; and as the peishwah ap-
proached the palace, salutes were fired from the several posts of the
Marhatta troops.. At sun-set salutes were fired from all the hill forts
_ in the vicinity of Poonah.

While these transactions passed at Poonah, Dewlut Rao Scindiah had
collected a large force at Ougein® with the professed view of opposing
Jeswunt Rao Holkar, and, having commenced his march from that
capital towards Poonah, crossed the Nerbudda river on the 4th of
February 1803, and arrived in the vicinity of Boorhanpoor on the
23d of that month.

Colonel Collins, the British resident, dispatched by the governor
general from Futty-Ghur, arrived at the camp of Dowlut Rao Scin-

* Qugein is Scindiah’s capital, situated near the antient city of Mundu, the capital of
the Chillingi kings of Malwa. Ougein is about forty miles north or north-west of Indore,.
Holkar’s capital. These two cities are situated in the proyince of Malwa, which-is di-

~vided between the peishwab, Scindiah, and Holkar, :
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vebruary 27, diah on the 27th of February 1808. The advices which the governor

March 24,

general had received from colonel Collins, and from other quarters,
induced his lordship to entertain suspicions that Scindiah, notwith-
standing his specious professions, being now delivered by the inter-
position of the British power from the immediate fear of the supe-
riority of Holkar, meditated an accommodation with Holkar, and a
confederacy with that chieftain and with the rajah of Berar, for the
purpose of subverting the treaty concluded by the British government
with the peishwah at Bassein. This suspicion was corroborated by
the artifices practised at the camp of Scindiah upon the arrival of
colonel Collins, with a view of eluding the communication of the pro-
positions with which colonel Collins was charged under the authority
of the governor general. The intricacy, perverse policy, and treachery
of such an intrigue, however contrary to every principle of true wisdom
and justice, are habitual to the low cunning and captious jealousy of
the Marhattas. Colonel Collins therefore, on the 24th of March 1803,
demanded and obtained an audience of Dowlut Rao Scindiah, for the
purpose of requiring an explanation of the suspected intrigue; when
that chieftain, in the presence of all his principal ministers, positively
assured colonel Collins, that be had no intention whatever to obstruct the
completion of the arrangements concluded between the peishwah and the
British government, and that it was his wish to improve the friendship
then subsisting between the peishwah, the British government, and his
own state,

Notwithstanding this amicable declaration, the governor general had
great cause to doubt the sincerity of Scindiah’s professions, while the
increasing rumours of the supposed confederacy between that chieftain,
Jeswunt Rao Holkar, and the rajah of Berar, rendered it absolutely
necessary for the British government to bring the question of the sup-
posed confederacy to a determination; and, in the event of the actual

2 formation
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formation of such a confederacy, to prepare the British government
and its allies for a contest with the confederated chieftains.

Colonel Collins therefore, in a conference on the 28th of May, com-
municated to Scindiah the representations which he had been directed
to make in conformity to instructions from the governor general under
date the 5th of May; by which colonel Collins was desired to require the
immediate return to Hindostan of Scindiah with his army, because
Dowlut Rao Scindiah possessed no right to impede the accomplishment
of the treaty of Bassein, unless his own security was endangered by
that arrangement; because the advance of his army must necessarily
have prevented the due execution of that treaty ; and because (Scindiah
having on the 24th of March, formally disavowed an intention of ob-
structing the engagements concluded between the peishwah and the
British government,) his march to Poonah, or his continuance south of
the Nerbudda river¥®, were incompatible with that declaration, and
could not be reconciled to any other policy than a determined inten-
tion to disturb those engagements, and to re-establish his former
usurped ascendancy in the government of Poonah.

Colonel Collins at the same time delivered to Scindiah a copy of the
treaty of Bassein. Scindiah, after having considered the articles of the
treaty, declared that “ it contained no stipulations injurious to his just
rights. In conformity to the governor general’s instructions, colonel
Collins required Scindiah to state the nature of his late negotiations
with the rajah of Berar and with Jeswunt Rao Holkar, intimating also
to Scindiah the resolution of the governor general to resist any attempt
on the part of any state or power to obstruct the complete execution of

the treaty of Bassein.

#* The Nerbudda river forms the southern boundary of Hindostan Proper.

The
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The resident (colonel Collins) also apprised Dowlut Rao Scindiah,
that, in the event of his refusing to afford the just and reasonable ex-
planations and assurances which the resident demanded, and of his
continuing to prosecute military operations in opposition to the resi-
dent’s remonstrances, the British government would be compelled to
adopt measures of precaution on every boundary of that chieftain’s do-
minions. The resident added, agreeably to the governor general’s in-
structions, that certain intelligence of the accession of Dowlut Rao
Scindiah to any confederacy against the British power would produce
immediate hostility on all parts of his frontier,

In reply, Scindiah repeatedly declared, in public durbar, that he
could not afford the satisfaction demanded, until a meeting should
have taken place between him and the rajah of Berar,—when the British
resident should be informed ¢ wehezher it wonld be peace or war.”

Itis impossible not to contrast this unprovoked menace of hostility
with the temperate declaration of the governor general, intimating a
conditional intention to adopt measures of precaution on every boun-
dary of Scindiah’s dominions, in the event only of that chieftain con-
tinuing to prosecute military operations, in opposition to the remon-
strances of the resident, and refusing to afford the reasonable ex plana-
tions which the resident had demanded. In the sequel of the governor
general’s declaration, which adverted to the extreme case of ultimate
hostility, that eventual case is stated to have been contemplated by the
governor general in the single event of Scindiah having actually ac-
ceded to a confederacy against the British power, which act on the part
of Scindiah would alone have constituted 4 positive aggression. 1he
insult offered to the British government by a reference of the question
of peace or war to the result of a conference with the rajah of Berar,
who, at the head of a considerable army, had reached the vicinity of

Dowlut
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Dowlut Rao Scindiah’s camp at Eidalabad, together with the indication
which Scindiah’s abrupt declaration, and the approaching junction
of his army with that of the rajah of Berar afforded, of a disposition
on the part of those chieftains to prosecute the supposed objects of
their confederacy, rendered it the duty of the British government to
adopt without delay the most effectual measures for the vindication of
its dignity, and for the security, of its rights and interests, and those of
its allies, against any attempt on the part of the confederates to injure
or invade them. The governor general accordingly (on the 28th of

June) issued private instructions to general Lake at Cawnpoor to make

the necessary arrangements for assembling the army on the north-west

frontier of the company’s dominions, in order to counteract the designs
of Dowlut Rao Scindiah and the rajah of Berar, and to derive every
possible benefit to the British interests in the event of war. '

On the 3d of June the rajah of Berar arrived within one march of

Scindiah’s camp* at Checkly, on the frontier of the nizam’s terri-
tories,

* Ttappears from the report of Mr. Stuart, a British officer who was then in Scindiah’s
service, and afterwards quitted it on the commencement of hostilities, that Scindiah’s force

in the vicinity of the nizam’s frontier at this period of time (June 1, 1803) amounted to

twenty-eight battalions of regular infantry (about seventeen or eighteen thousand men),

and a well-appointed train of artillery, amounting to one hundred and seventy guns. The
regular infantry consisted of monsieur Pohlman’s brigade, eight battalions; monsieur
Dudernaigue’s brigade, seven battalions; the brigade under major Brownrigg, five batta-
lions ; monsieur Dupont’s bri gade, fourbattalions; and four battalions belonging to Begum
Sumroo. Ambajee Inglia’s brigade, consisting, it is stated, of sixteen battalions, had a few
days before been detached to Hindostan.

Scindiah’s cavalry amounted to about eighteen thousand men, and was cncamped a short
distance from his infantry at Mulkapore, at which place Mr. Stuart believes the army of
the rajah of Berar, amounting to six thousand infantry, twenty thousand cavalry, and forty
guns, to have been at that time stationed.
hieftains amounted therefore to twenty-three or
Iry, and about two hundred and

ten

The united armies of the confederate ¢
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tories, and was met by Scindiah on the following morning: From this
time the conduct of those chieftains afforded the strongest indication
of a resolution on their part to evade the just and reasonable demands
of the British government, that they should withdraw their armies from
the menacing posizion which those armies had occupied on the frontier
of -our ally the nizam. Although Scindiah had distinctly admitted, that
the treaty of Bassein contained no stipulations injurious to his just
rights, both chieftains continued their negotiations with Jeswunt Rao
Holkar, in order to induce him to join the confederacy against the
British government and its allies. At the same time both chieftains
employed every endeavour to detach the court of his highness the
peishwah, and that of his highness the nizam, from their alliance with
the honourable company, by intimidation, menaces, and promises of
booty and aggrandisement in war against the company.

The belief that those chieftains entertained designs hostile to the
British government at the earliest stages of the negotiation between the
resident and Dowlut Rao Scindiah, is supported by the information
which the governor general has from time to time received of the pro-
ceedings of that chieftain.

ten guns, and were encamped within twenty-five or thirty miles of the nizam’s frontier,
and of two principal passes (the Adjuntee and Badowly ghauts), leading into that prince’s
territories.

This commanding position not only afforded the confederate chieftains the means of me-
nacing the tranquillity and security of the nizam’s dominions, butwould have enabled them
(if they had not been checked by the British power) to have commenced a successful attack
on the nizam’s territory as soon as the season should admit the commencement of military
operations; to have penetrated to Hyderabad for the purpose of interrupting the regular
order of succession to the musnud of the Dekan; and eventually to have invaded the com-
pany’s provinces, and to have made those provinces the theatre of their violence and ag-
gression,

4 i In
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In a letter from colonel Collins, of the 9th of March 1803, the resident
apprised the governor general, that Ambajee Inglia, one of Dowlut Rao
Scindiah’s principal ministers, had informed one of the resident’s native
agents, that orders had been issued to general Perron, directing him to
place the army under his command in a state of preparation for the field,
with a view to an eventual rupture with the British governmen.

At that time Ambajee Inglia was supposed to possess the greatest in-
fluence over the mind of Scindiah, whose proceedings were said to be
principally regulated by the counsels of that chieftain. It appeared
highly improbable, therefore, that Ambajee would have communicated
these orders to the resident’s agents, if they had really been issued.
This circumstance induced the governor general to discredit the dis-
patch of those orders, and to believe that the object of the communi-
cation was merely to discover the views and intentions of the British
government with respect to Dowlut Rao Scindiah.

The concurrent testimony of facts, and the state of monsieur Perron’s
military force, however, which have subsequently been ascertained, con-
firm the information which the resident communicated in the month
of March, respecting the dispatch of the orders to general Perron, to
the effect above described, even at that early stage of our negotiations
with Dowlut Rao Scindiah. ‘The conduct of Ambajee has also been
explained by subsequent events; it has appeared by undoubted evi-
dence that Ambajee actually provoked Scindiah to war against the
company, and obtained the command in Hindostan with the secret
purpose of emancipating himself from Scindiah’s power. In pur-
suance of this treacherous project, after having given the information
stated to colonel Collins, Ambajee actually obtained the command of
Scindiah’s forces in Hindostan, and immediately upon his arfival at
Gualior sent proposals of submission to general Lake. In the true
spirit of Marhatta faith, however, a part of Ambajee’s troops engaged
general Lake’s army in the memorable battle of Laswaree.

E2 On
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On the 17th of June 1803 the governor general received information
that Dowlit Rao Scindiah had addressed letters to Ghunnee Bahadur
and Himmut Bahadur, the officers exercising the chief authority on
the part of his highness the peishwah in the province of Bundelcund,
requiring them to be prepared to co-operate with the confederated
Marhatta armies in hostile measures against the British posssesions;
and that Dhurrum Rao, the commanding officer of a considerable
body of horse, which had been dispatched by Scindiah in the month
of April to Calpee (a station on the right bank of the Jumna, con-
tiguous to the British territories), had received orders from Scindiah to

the same effect.

On receipt of this information, the governor general deemed it
proper to direct the resident to require Dowlut Rao Scindiah to ac-
knowledge or to disavow those orders ; and accordingly, at a conference
between the resident and Dowlut Rao Scindiah, holden on the 16th of
July, the resident stated the substance of that information to Dowlut

' Rao Scindiah, and required him to declare whether he had actually

issued orders of the nature described.

In reply, Dowlut Rao Scindiah assured the resident in the most so-

lemn manner, that he had never issued such orders to the peishwah’s

officers in Bundelcund, or to Dhurrum Rao, and that the latter chief-
tain had been especially directed to respect the British territories.

Notwithstanding the solemn disavowal by Scindiah of these orders,
the many instances of insincerity manifested by that chieftain, the ge-

* neral tenor of his conduct, and the authenticity of the source of in-

formation upon this subject, together with circumstances which have
subsequently been ascertained, confirm the intelligence originally re-
ceived relative to these acts of aggression on the part of Scindiah. The
facts were communicated to the collector of Allahabad by the expi‘ess
direction of Himmut Behadur (one of the peishwah’s officers in Bun-

2 delcund)
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delcund) to whom the letters of Scindiah were addressed, and who
previously transmitted proposals to the governor general for the trans-
fer of that province to the authority of the British government.

In a letter from colonel Collins, dated the 14th of June, and received
on the 6th of July, that officer transmitted a paper of intelligence from
his agent at Delhi, stating, that messengers from Dowlut Rao Scin-
diah had lately come to the Rohilla chieftain Gholaum Mahomed Khan,
who resides at Nadown, and that letters had been received by that
chieftain from general Perron, inviting him to proceed with his fol-
lowers towards the station of general Perron’s army, by the way of
Saharunpoor, for the purpose of exciting commotions in the jagheer of
Rampoor ; and assuring him of ample support both from Scindiah and
general Perron; and that general Perron had clandestinely addressed
letters to the principal persons residing in the jagheer of Rampoor
and other places, urging them to employ their exertions in disturbing
the tranquillity of the company’s possessions. This intelligence was
corroborated by information repeatedly received and communicated to
the governor general by the resident at Lucknow, and the agent to the
governor general in the ceded provinces of Oude, of the preparations
of Gholaum Mahomed Khan for the avowed purpose of complying
with the suggestions which he had received from Scindiah and general
Perron, to excite disturbances in the district of Rampoor, and to dis-
turb the tranquillity of the vizier’s and the company’s dominions ; and
on the 26th of July copies of letters from Dowlut Rao Scindiah to
Gholaum Mahomed Khan and Bumboo Khan (the grandson of the late
Nujib-oo-Dowlah, who occupies a territory in the vicinity of Saharun-
poor)%ldeclaring the intention of Scindiah to commence a war of ag-
gression against the British power, and instigating those chieftains to
co-operate with the forces of general Perron against the British posses-
sions, were received by the governor general from Mr. Leycester, the
collector atMoradabad, to whom they had been transmitted by Bumboo

Khan,
It
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- It appears from a passage in these documents, that the letters of Scin-
diah to Gholaum Mahomed Khan and Bumboo Khan were written
subsequently to the march of Dowlut Rao Scindiah from Boorhanpoor
on the 4th of May. But the dispatch of messengers to Gholaum
Mahomed Khan, and the transmission of the instructions to general
Perron, under which that officer addressed letters to the principal per-
sons in Rampoor and other places, as noticed in the preceding para-
graphs, must be referred to an earlier period of time. The complete
state of preparation in which the army of general Perron was actually
placed, is a corroborative evidence of the actual transmission of orders
to that officer, to the effect described in colonel Collins’s letter of the
9th of March.

These facts reciprocally confirm each point of the evidence of Scin-
diah’s hostile projects, and, combined with information at various times
communicated by the resident with Dowlut Rao Scindiah of the pro-
ceedings of that chieftain, with the repeated intelligence received of the
actual formation of 'an hostile confederacy between Dowlut Rao Scin-
diah, and the rajah of Berar, and Jeswunt Rao Holkar, and with the
tenor and result of the resident’s negotiations, amount to full proof of
the alleged design, on the part of Scindiah and the rajah of Berar, of
subverting the alliance formed between the British government and his
highness the peishwabh.

During the actual crisis of affairs, it appeared to the governor gene-
ral necessary to unite the control of all political affairs n the Dekan,
connected with the negotiation then depending between the British go-
vernment and the confederated chieftains, and with the movement of
the army, under a distinct local authority, subject to the governor ge-
neral in council, but possessing full powers to conclude upon the spot
whatever arrangements might become necessary, either for the final set-
tlement of peace or for the active prosecution of war, The governor

general
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general was of opinion, that those important powers could not be placed
with advantage in any other hands than those of the general officer
commanding the troops destined to restore the tranquillity of the
Dekan; and accordingly determined on the 26th of June to vest them
in major-general Wellesley, whose established influence among the
Marhatta chiefs, and intimate knowledge of the governor general’s sen~
timents concerning the British interests in the Marhatta empire, were
particularly calculated to enable that officer to execute the arduous trust
reposed in him, with the greatest benefit to the public interests. The
same powers were also vested in lieutenant-general Stuart, in the event
of his assuming the immediate command of the forces in the Dekan.

On the 18th of July major-general Wellesley, having received these
powers from the governor general, addressed a letter to the resident,
directing him to state to Dowlut Rao Scindiah, and the rajah of Berar,
the anxiety with which the British government desired the preservation
of peace; and to observe, that the only proof which could be accepted,
of the sincerity of the amicable professions of Scindiah and the rajah
of Berar, was the immediate separation and return of their armies from
the frontier of the nizam’s territories to their respective capitals; in
which case, general Wellesley offered to withdraw the troops under his
command to their usual stations. Should however Scindiah and the
rajah of Berar be resolved to maintain their positions on the nizam’s
frontier, the resident was directed to apprise those chieftains, that he
had received major-general Wellesley’s orders to quit the camp of
Scindiah without delay.

After further evasive attempts, the two chieftains returned answers
on the 31st of July to general Wellesley’s requisition, and proposed to
retire from the position which they occupied, at the same time that ge-
neral Wellesley should commence his march to the usual stations of the
British army. This proposition however was accompanied by a con-

dition
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dition which furnished a curious example of the deceitful but weak
policy of these Marhatta chiefs: they added to a proposition specious in
its first appearance, the inadmissible and absurd conditien, that on the
same day on which the British troops under general Wellesley should
reach the stations of Bombay, Madras, and Seringapatam™®, the Mar-
hatta confederates would encamp the unifed armies 5f Scindiah and
the rajah of Berar at Boorhanpoor, a city belonging to Scindiah,
and situated about fifty miles from the nizam’s frontier.

- The manner in which this .proposition was conveyed to general Wel-
lesley deserves particular notice. At the last conference on the 31st of
July between the British resident, Dowlut Rao Scindiah and the rajah

~ of Berar, three successive propositions were offered by those chieftains

to colonel Collins’s acceptance. The first proposition was, that the
united forces of Scindiah and the rajah of Berar should retire to Boor-
hanpoor, and that major-general Wellesley should withdraw the British
troops to their usual stations; or, in other words, that the British army
should abandon the means which it possessed in its actual position, and
in its embodied state, of opposing a seasonable resistance to any hostile
attempts on the part of the confederated chieftains, while those chief-
tains should retire with their #zited armies to a short distance from the
frontier of our ally, prepared to take advantage of the approaching
favourable season, and of the absence and dispersion of the British
forces.

This unreasonable proposition having been decidedly and instantly
rejected by the resident, the confederated chieftains offered their second

* Distances from Amednuggur (the position of major-general Wellesley’s army on the
31st July '1803,)

To Madras, - - 1049 miles.
Seringapatam, - B 541 ——
Bombay, - = 115821

From the position which the confederates occupied, Boorhanpoor is distant about fifty miles.

proposition,
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proposition, that the resident should appoint a day for the march of the
respective forces of those chieftains from the place of their encamp-
ment, and that the resident should pledge the faith of the British go-
vernment for the retreat of the army under major-general Wellesley, on
the day on which the armies of the confederates should commence their
march to their usual stations,

It is manifest that this proposition afforded no other security for the
actual return of the armies of those chieftains to their usual stations,
than a precarious dependence on those promises which they had so re-
peatedly violated : independently of which consideration, colonel Collins
was not authorised to pledge the faith of the British government to an
arrangement inconsistent with the instructions which he had received
from major-general Wellesley ; and it soon became evident that this pro-
position was merely illusory on the part of the chieftains.

Scindiah and the rajah of Berar finally proposed their third proposi-
tion, that they should by a letter state to major-general Wellesley, ¢ that
“ on the day on which general Wellesley should withdraw his troops
“ from the station then occupied by the British army, zhose chieftains
““ would separate their armies, and commence their return to their respective
“ ferritories in Berar and the north of Hindostan.”  This proposed mo-
dification of general Wellesley’s requisition evidently diminished the
security which might have been derived from the previous and imme-
diate separation and departure of the confederated armies. Scindiah
and the rajah of Berar, however, having declared that unless major-
general Wellesley should consent to the third proposition, they could
not retire consistently with a due regard to the honour of their respec-
tive governments, colonel Collins consented to refer that proposition to
major-general Wellesley, and to remain in Scindiah’s camp until an

answer should be received, provided the letters to major-general Wel-
' B lesley
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lesley were sent to the resident for transmission before the noon of ‘the
following day.

It now appeared that both the second and third propositions had.
been absolute evasions for the purpose of gaining time: in direct
violation of the terms of both the second and the third propositions,
Scindiah and the rajah of Beraron the 1st of August 1803 transmitted
letters to the resident, addressed to major-general Wellesley, proposing
not to separate their armies, and to commence their return to Berar and
to the northern provinces of Hindostan, on the day on which major-
general Wellesley should withdraw the British army, but to continue
their armies united; and instead of commencing their “march to their respec-
“ive territories in Berary and the north of Hindgstan,” to limit their re-
treat to the neighbouring station of Boorhanpoor, precisely according to
the terms of the first proposition, which had been fully discussed, and
positively and instantly rejected by colonel Collins.

On receipt of the rajah of Berar’s letters containing this inadmissible
and insidious proposition, the resident made immediate arrangements
for quitting the camp of Dowlut Rao Scindiah, and commenced his.
march towards Aurungabad on the 3d of August.

It may be useful in this place to review, in a distinet and connected
form, the leading facts of the late transactions, which have terminated
in a dissolution of the relations of amity between the British govern-
ment and the confederated chieftains, Dowlut Rao Scindiah and the
rajah of Berar.. '

His highness the peishwah was compelled towards the close of th;s:-
year 1802, by the violence and usurpation of a subject® of his.go--

* Jeswunt Rao Holkar..
vernment,),
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vernment, to abandon his capital city of Poonah; in pursuance of the
principles of the alliance formed with the peishwah in 1790, and re-
vived in 1792 and 1793, and with a view to the establishment of
the general system of defensive alliance, commenced with the nizam
by the treaties of 1798 and 1800, his highness the peishwah solicited and
obtained the aid of the British power for the restoration of his au-
thority, and concluded engagements with the British government, cal-
culated to secure his highness’s rights and independence against the
designs of any foreign or domestic enemy. Those engagements not
only contained no stipulation injurious to the just rights of the feuda-
rory chieftains of the Marhatta empire, but provided additional security
for the unmolested exercise of those rights. Reference to the treaty of
Bassein will prove this statement.

Dowlut Rao Scindiah distinctly expressed his concurrence in the
propriety of the measures adopted by the British government for the
restoration of the peishwah’s authority: he was assured by the resident
in the name of the British government, that the treaty of Bassein was
merely of a defensive nature; and after having received a copy of the
treaty of Bassein, he admitted rhat the treaty of Bassein was not in-
jurious to his own rights, or to those of the feudatory chieftains: he also,
after some discussion, admitted that the peishwah possessed the right to
conclude the treaty of Bassein without the concurrence of the Mar-

hatra feudatories, stating merely that, as guarantee* to the treaty of
Salbye,

* On this subject it may be observed, that to have rendered the peishwah responsible to
Scindiah for the acts of his administration as the acknowledged executive head of the
Marhatta state, would have reversed the relation which subsists between them. The duty
of a guarantee to a treaty cannot be considered to extend to the obligation of precluding any
change in the terms of such treaty, or even its entire abrogation, provided the contracting
parties have agreed by mutual consent to vary or annul it. In his capacity of guarantee
to the treaty of Salbye, Scindiah is merely authorized to bring to a right understanding
either of the parties to that treaty which shall deviate from its stipulations. In thatca-

¥ 2 . pacity,
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Salbye, he ought to have been consulted by the peishwah. Dowlut
RaoScindiah, however, persisted in soliciting the junction of the rajah of
Berar, with the whole body of his forces, for the purpose of deciding the
question of war or peace; or, in other words, of eventually employing
their united power and resources to invade the territories of the allies
and of the company,and to subvert the arrangements concluded between
the British government and the peishwah at Bassein,

In conformity to Dowlut Rao Scindiah’s solicitations, the rajah of
Berar commenced his march for the purpose of effecting the proposed
junction of their numerous armies in a menacing position on the
frontier* of the nizam, the ally of the British government.

These measures were not adopted by those chieftains with a view, nor
even under a pretence, of defending their own rights and interests
against any apprehended design on the part of the British government,
or of any other state, to injure or to invade those rights or interests,
nor with the view of securing the protection or internal settlement of
their own possessions in the vicinity of the nizam’s dominions. No
such apprehensions were ever stated by either chieftain. These mea-
sures were therefore avowedly concerted for the express purpose of
enabling those chieftains to carry into effect their eventual resolution
of undertaking a war of aggression against the British government and
its allies, for the purpose of usurping the authority of the peishwah,

pacity, therefore, Scindiah does not possess any authority to prevent the contracting par-
ties from concluding any additional engagements, or even from abrogating the treaty of
Salbye by mutual consent : at all events, his interests and station as a member of the Mar-
hatta state were sufficiently considered by the offer of admitting him to be a party in the
defensive treaty concluded with the peishwah, or of contracting separate engagements
between him and the British goyernment on the basis of that treaty.

* Near the Adjuntee ghaut, a pass about sixty miles north of Aurungabad, on the ni-
zam’s north-western frontier, and leading into his territories.

and



37

and of destroying a treaty, the tendency of which the confederate
chieftains had not arraigned, and which the peishwah was acknow-

ledged to be competent to conclude, even by the direct admission of
Dowlut Rao Scindiah,

Under these and other indications of hostility on the part of those

1803.
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chieftains, the British government merely required that they should -

retire with their armies to their usual stations, in Berar and the north
of Hindostan, proposing that the British army in the Dekan should
also retire in a similar manner.

At the moment when Dowlut Rao Scindiah, after being apprised of
all the stipulations of the treaty of Bassein, acknowledged that it con-
tained no provisions injurious to the rights of the feudatory chieftains,
that chieftain publicly declared to the resident, thas zbe question of peace
or war with ibhe British government depended upon the result of a
conference between Scindiah and the rajah of Berar, whose arrival at
the head of the whole body of his forces in the vicinity of Scindiah’s
camp was daily expected.

The hostile and insulting nature of this declaration deserves par-
ticular attention. Occupying a position with the main body of his

In a conference
on the 28tH of
May 1803,

forces near the frontier of our ally, Scindiah publicly declared, in open .

durbar, to the representative of the British government, that he awaited
the arrival of the rajah of Berar, at the head of a numerous army, on
the frontier of the dominions of our ally, for the purpose of deciding
whether the united arms of those confederate chieftains should be
employed in a war of aggression against the British government and
its allies.

After the declaration made by Dowlut Rao Scigdiah, that  tbe British
“ government should know whether it would be peace or war as soon as the
‘ “ rajab
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“ rajab of Berar should bave joined Scindiah’s army,” every principle of
the law of nations would have justified the British government in
adopting any measures which might have been deemed necessary to
prevent the intended junction between the armies of Dowlut Rao
Seindiah and of the rajah of Berar. It would have been justifiable to
have employed force for the purpose of preventing the junction of the
confederate armies, and of diverting the operations of their troops.
Those objects constituted a sufficient cause of war, previously to the
meeting of the chiefs, and would have warranted the immediate attack
of the territories and resources of the coafederates, in order to prevent
the accomplishment of the avowed purpose of their meeting.

The armies of those chieftains however were permitted to effect the
proposed junction, and the chieftains met for the purpose of deciding
whether it should be peace or war with the company. After the junction
of their armies, those chieftains continued, by systematic delays and
evasions, to withhold any declaration with regard to the nature of their
designs during a period of two months; and although, at the expiration
of that period of time, the confederated chieftains disavowed all inten-
tion of obstructing the complete execution of the treaty of Bassein, they
refused to abandon the arrangements avowedly adopted, and the po-
sition occupied for the eventual prosecution of hostilities against the
British government.

The proceedings of the confederated chicftains were therefore ma-
nifestly of a menacing and aggressive nature, and the position of their
united armies on the frontier of our ally enabled them to carry into
immediate execution the hostile designs which their conduct and their
language had previously indicated. The temporary change of their
language, unaccompanied by any change of conduct, afforded no se-
curity against the hostilities which they had menaced; and while they

continued
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continued to occupy an hostile and menacing position with their united
armies, the contradiction between their professions and their actions af-
forded just ground of suspicion, especially at that season when it would
have been much more difficult for their forces than for the British to
have commenced active operations. On the other hand, the movement
of the British troops towards Ahmednuggur, as far as it respected the
rajah of Berar and Dowlut Rao Scindiah, was purely defensive. The
internal condition of his highness the peishwah’s government would
alone have justified and required the march of the British subsidiary
force from Poonah to that position..

Under these circumstances those chieftains were not entitled to any’
eorresponding concessions on our part, and their refusal to comply un-
conditionally with the requisition of the British government would’
have justified an. immediate resort to armis. The offer of major-ge~
neral Wellesley, therefore, on: the 18th of July, to: withdraw the troops
under his command from the vicinity of Ahmednuggur, and the
amicable:agsurances with which it was accompanied, afforded the most
unequivocal proof of the pacific intentions of the British government,.
and deprived the confederated chieftains of every pretext for continuing
to maintain their armies in their united and menacing position on the:
frontier of our ally.

The mere junction of the armies of Scindiah and the rajah of Berar
upon the frontier of the dominions of our ally, for any purpose un-
connected with the security of the rights of those chieftains, would
have compelled the British government to demand the removal of those
armies from that menacing position, and would have required the adop-

tion of measures of precaution on' our part; and the refusal of those

chieftains to comply with that demand would have justified an appeal
to arms for the security of our interests and those of our allies. But

Scindiah had pubhcly declared, that the object of the junction of the
confederate:
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confederate armies was to decide the question of peace or war with the
company. Under the circumstances of the moment, therefore, no other
security for the pacific conduct of those chieftains could have been ac-
cepted, than such as should deprive them of the power of prosecuting
with success the designs which they manifestly entertained, and had de-
clared, against the rights and interests of the British government and its
allies. ’ o

During the whole course of the negotiations between the resident and
Dow lut Rao Scindiah, (from the 27th of Fcbruary until the 8d of Au-
gust 1803), that chieftain and the rajah of Berar employed their most
assiduous endeavours to induce Jeswunt Rao Holkar to unite in the
confederacy, and to form a junction with the confederate armies; and
those chieftains even assigned the depending negotiation with Jeswunt
Rao Holkar, as a.cause for maintaining  their united armies in the
position from which they were required to retreat.

The result established by these facts, which are amply detailed in the
governor general’s dispatches to the secret committee of the 19th of
April, 20th of June, 1st of August, and 25th of September 1803, is—

Ist. That according to the evidence of facts, and to the distinct
avowal of Scindiah and the rajah of Berar, those chieftains had no cause
of complaint against the British government, nor any reason to appre-
hend that their just rights and interests were exposed to hazard by the

arrangements concluded between the British government and the
peishwah.

2dly. That the junction and contiLuance of the armies of those
chieftains on the frontier of the nizam near Adjuntee, were evidently
unnecessary for any purpose connected with the security of their rights
or with the protection or internal arrangement of any part of their
‘ territorial
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territorial possessions; and that if either Scindiah or the rajah of
Berar had really entertained apprehensions of Holkar’s movements,
they could not have continued in their actual position with common
prudence, but must for their own safety have retired in the direction
required by major-general Wellesley, since Holkar at that time occu-
pied a position in the vicinity of Scindiah’s dominions in Malwa.

8dly. That the general conduct and language of those chieftains in-
dicated designs of a hostile nature against the British government and
its allies the peishwah and the nizam, and that Scindiah had distinctly
declared on the 28th of May, that he and the rajah of Berar meditated

eventual war.

4thly. ‘'That those chieftains assembled their armies in a menacing
position on the frontier of our ally the nizam, for the purpose of
enabling them eventually to carry those designs into execution.

5thly. That the public and insulting menace of war against the
British government, uttered by Dowlut Rao Scindiah on the 28th of
May 1808, was an open avowal of a hostile spirit, and an act of direct
hostility, and therefore a sufficient causé of war, unless that menace had
been effectually retracted by such a movement of that chieftain’s army
as should have secured the British interests against the accomplishment
of so insolent and wanton a threat; that the confederate army conti-
nued to retain the means of commencing with advantage the war which
Scindiah had denounced ; that the same hostile spirit was manifested by
various preparations and arrangements dangerous to the British govern-
ment and its allies, and that these acts of aggression were menaced and
* committed, not only without any cause of complaint deducible from the
measures and proceedings of the British government or of' its allies,

butunder a distinct acknowledgement of the pacific nature of our ar-
G rangements
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rangements with the peishwah, and under an avowed conviction of our
amicable intentions.

6thly. That the hostile nature of the procecedings of those chief-
tains, and their repeated violation of public faith, precluded all reliance
on their promises and professions, and rendered it the duty of the
British government to require the separation and return of their armies
to their respective territories, as the only security for the rights and in-
terests of the British government and its allies against the declared de-
signs of those confederated chieftains.

Tthly. That this requisition was accompanied by a proposal to with-
draw the British army fromitsadvanced position at Ahmednuggur in the
Dekan ; and that such a proposal was not only an incontrovertible proof
of the just and pacific views of the British government, but furnished
ample security to the confederated chieftains against the possibility of
any danger which could be apprehended by them from a compliance
with our requisition to separate and withdraw their armies.

It was evident therefore that, after the denial of this just requisition,
the defence and security of our rights and those of our allies could

only be maintained by resorting to arms against Scindiah and the
rajah of Berar.

The season pressed for decision.. The actual prevalence of the rainy
monsoon in the provinces of India, which must become the theatre of
war, was highly favourable to our operations, and equally unpropitious
to any hostile movement of the native powers.

To have permitted the confederate chieftains to remain unmolested
until the close of the rains, would have sacrificed a principal advantage
which we then posessed; and would have enabled and encouraged them

to
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to prosecute with facility and rapidity their operations* against the ter-
ritories of the nizam, of the peishwah, of the rajah of Mysore, and
eventually of the company, at the commencement of the favourable
season.

This policy would have united all the, disadvantages of irresolution

with the inconvenience of heavy expense, and of the continuance of
our army at a remote distance from our own possessions: neither
prudence nor honour would have permitted us to retreat under the
menacing language and commanding position of the confederate chief-
tains. We must therefore have maintained an advanced position in
the Dekan ; nor could we have abandoned the nizam, the peishwah, the
guikwar, the rajah of Mysore, and our own subjects upon our frontier,
to the security of vague professions from a Marhatta durbar. The
threats and power of the confederates, the position and force of their
army, combined with the general tenor of their conduct and policy, ab-
solutely required that our army should remain in the vicinity of the
confederate forces, for the preservation of our interests, of our safety,
of our public faith, and of our reputation.

*The dessarah, which may be considered a military festival among the Marhattas, takes
place at the close of the south-west monsoon, about the end of the month of September :
the favourable scason for the movement of troops then opens. The jhanda or great standard
of the prince is hoisted, a camp is formed, and the operations of the ensuing year are de-
termined, whether they may be directed against an open enemy, or to the object of col-
lecting the permanent tribute or choute, or to move on a muluk-gheree, or plundering
expedition. ¢ In Poonah this festival is celebrated with particular splendour. The peishwah,
¢ accompanied by the great members of the empire, marches out of the city, preceded by
¢ the state equipages, consisting of elephants superbly caparisoned, led horses, and, in
“¢ short, all the pomp of oriental magnificence. Upon this oceasion the Marhattas go
“ through the ceremony of plundering a field ; doubtless to remind them of their predatory
“¢ origin. The peishwah Jeads the way, by tearing up a handful of corn ; his example is fol-
¢ lowed by all present, and the field is pillaged in & moment.”

G 2 In
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In addition to other circumstances, the declining state of the nizam’s
health, and the designs which the confederate chieftains were known to
entertain wich respect to the succession to the sovereign authority of
the Dekan, rendered it indispensably necessary, that, while the Marhatta
army remained on the nizam’s frontier, the British troops should
occupy a position calculated to secure the regular order of succession on
the nizam’s death, and to frustrate the attempts which the confederates
might make to place on the musnud of the Dekan one of the younger
sons of the nizam, devoted to the cause of the Marhatta chiefs, and ini-
mical to the British interests.

The same policy which dictated the conclusion of the treaties of Hy-
derabad in 1798 and in 1800, required that the British government
should be prepared to maintain the stability of its alliance with the
prince of the Dekan, and to resist any attempt which might be directed
to the subversion of the British influence at Hyderabad, or to the ex-
clusion of the legitimate heir from the sovereign power of the Dekan.

These considerations therefore rendered it indispensably necessary to
maintain an advanced position in the Dekan, while the confederates
should persist in the determination of menacing the frontier of our
allies. If the British army had continued in an advanced position,
leaving to the confederates the undisturbed possession of their re-
sources and means of attack, the result must have been deeply in-
jurious, if not fatal to our cause.

After we had sustained the expense and inconvenience of remaining
inactive in the field, waiting the pleasure of the Marhatta durbars for
peace or war, the confederate chieftains would ultimately have pos-
sessed the opportunity of employing their combined force against our
dispirited army with every advantage of season, with increased alacrity

: and
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and vigour, and with the probable addition of Holkar's troops, of

many of our present Marhatta allies, and even of French auxiliaries.
Y P ) _

The same considerations of justice and policy, therefore, which abso-
lutely required us to maintain our army in an advanced position under
the actual aggression and hostile conduct of the confederates, operated

with additional force to demand such a seasonable application of our"

military strength, as should afford us the full benefit of our actual ad-
vantages, frustrate the artifices, delays and treachery of the enemy, an-
ticipate his insulting menace of war, check his pride, and chastise his

insolence.

If we had submitted to the insidious propositions of the Marhatta
chiefs; if we had retreated in the face of their united forces, and had
withdrawn our army in the Dekan* while they retained their com-
manding position; if we had omitted the precautions which involved

additional expense on the frontier of Oude and in other quarters; we °

should have submitted the honour, dignity and interests, if not the
existence, of the British government in India to the most faithless
sanguinary, rapacious, and violent of the Marhatta adventurers; we
should have forfeited the opinion of the native powers, which forms a
main pillar of the fabric of our empire; we should have descended to
a public acknowledgment of the superiority of the Moarhatta arms in
the face of all Asia; and we should have been degraded by the native
states of Hindostan and the Dekan to the rank of a secondary power in
India; of a power secondary to Dowlut Rao Scindiah, whose military
strength rests upon the support of French adventure, enterprise, and

skall.

* Dekan, or South, in its general signification, implies the whole of the penmsula of India

to the southward of the Nerbudda river, or from the 22d degree of north latitude to Cape’

Comorin. In its limited sense it is intended to signify the countries now forming the pro-
vinces of Candeish, Dowlutabad, Viziapoor, Golconda, and part of Berar.

A policy
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" A policy sounworthy of British wisdom, honour, and courage, would
have subjected the tranquillity and security of Hindostan and the
Dekan, including all our alliances, dependencies and possessions, to the
will of Scindiah, and of a band of French adventurers, armed with a
powerful artillery, in the critical moment of a renewal of war with
France.

It appeared to the governor general to be a more safe as well as a
more honourable policy, to employ the means which he had prepared,
for the purpose of effectually averting the present and future projects
of the confederates and their French officers, than to confide the security
of any part of his arduous trust to the professions of the Marhatta
chiefs, contradicted by the spirit of all their actions, and by the uniform
tenor of their character, disposition, and views.

Colonel Collins therefore left Scindiah’s camp on the 3d of August,
and the British government proceeded to carry into.execution the plan
of operations which had been formed, for the eventual defeat of the

unjust and unprovoked designs of the confederated chieftains Dowlut
Rao Scindiah and the rajah of Berar.

The compass of these notes will not admit a statement of the de-
tailed instructions issued by the governor general to his excellency the
commander in chief (general Lake), and to the honourable major-gene-
ral Wellesley, to the governments of Fort St. George and Bombay, and
to the public officers at Fort William, relative to the preparation and
employment of the forces, and to several points connected with the for-
mation of a system of political arrangement with the neighbouring
states and chieftainsy calculated to diminish the power and resources of
the enemy, and to facilitate the success of the British arms in the event
of our being compelled to proceed to hostilities.

Every
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Every measure was suggested and adopted, which the judgment of
the governor general in council could devise, for the successful ac-
complishment of those political arrangements ; and the preparations for

military operations were all made with a view to the commencement of

hostilities in every quarter of the possessions of the enemy, before the
close of the rainy season. Although this early movement was likely to
prove difficult to the British armies, it was well known that these diffi-
culties would be inconsiderable in comparison with the almost insur-
mountable obstacles which embarrass the operations of the army of a
native power during the period of the rains. The forces from the armies
of Fort St. George and of Bombay, under the command of major-ge-
neral Wellesley, were already in a position to commence hostilities in
the Dekan, as soon as intelligence should be received of the rupture of
the negotiation with Scindiah and the rajah ‘of Berar; and arrange-
iments had been carried into effect for the early invasion (from Ganjam
and from Calcutta, by the armies of Fort Saint George and Bengal) of
the valuable province of Cuttack in Orissa, which disjoins the British
territory, and interrupts the continuity of our 'dominions between
Bengal and the northern sircars. The government of Bombay was pre-
pared to seize at the same time the sea-ports and territory belonging to
Scindiah in Guzerat, on the extremity of the western quarter of India.
By the indefatigable activity, zeal, ability, and energy of general Lake,
(whose personal exertions have surpassed all former example, and have
been the main source of the success of the war in that quarter,) the
army of Bengal, on the north-west frontier of QOude, was placed, to-
wards the close of the month of July, in a state of preparation and
equipment favourable to the immediate attack of monsieur Perron’s
force, as soon as authentic advices should be received of the com-

~mencement of hostilities in the Dekan.

The arrangements adopted by the governor gene ral, during this

arduous crisis of affairs, were directed to provide for a general and
' combined

1503.
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combined attack to be made, nearly at the same time, on the united

army of Scindiah and the rajah of Berar under their personal command

in the Dekan, and on all their most vulnerable and valuable possessions .
in every quarter of India. The plan of operations comprehended a

tract of country, extending from Delhi* and the presidencies of Fort

William, Fort St. George, and Bombay, to Poonah, Hyderabad, Guzerat,

and Orissa; and embraced, together with the security and defence of
the British dominions, the important objects of defeating the confe-

derate chieftains in the field ; of establishing our allies, their highnesses

the peishwah and the nizam, in their respective legitimate governments ;

of securing the legitimate succession to the government of the Dekan ;

of delivering the unfortunate and aged emperor Shah Allum and the

royal house of Timur from misery, degradation, and bondage; and

of extirpating the last remnant of French influence in India, by res-

cuing his imperial majesty the moghul from the hands of a desperate

band of French adventurers; and by destroying the powerful artillery

and military resources of monsieur Perron, and of the French state

founded upon the ruins of’the authority of the moghul, and under the

auspices of Scindiah, on the north-west frontier of Hindostan.

The army under major-general Wellesley was directed to the purpose
of opposing the confederated force under the command of Scindiah and
the rajah of Berar. The effect of major-general Wellesley’s success

“ might be expected to deliver from all danger the nizam, the peishwah,

2 . . .
and the company’s possessions in Mysore, in the western and southern

* Delhi to Poonah - - = 913 miles. Fort William to Bombay 3452 1301 miles.
Hyderabad - - - g50 Fort St. George - 1030
Baroach, about - - goo Fort St. George to Poonah - 660
Cuttack - =~ = = 002 T Hyderabad ' = - - 352
Fort William to Poonah - 1289 Boorhanpoor - - 769
Hyderabad - - - go2 Fort St. Georgeto Bombay - 738
Baroach - - - 125 Baroach to Cuttack - near 1000

districts
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districts of the Dekan, and on the frontier of Berar ; and to establish
the governments of the guikwar, of Poonah, and of Hyderabad.

By the reduction of Cuttack in Orissa an effectual blow would be
struck against the rajah of Berar’s resources ; the only maritime terri-
tory of the Marhattas on the eastern side of the peninsula of India
would be secured from all intercourse with the French, a valuable ad-
dition would be made to our revenue,and a strong barrier added to the
frontier of Bengal against predatory incursion; the intercourse be-
tween Bengal and the territories of Fort St. George would also be pro-
tected from interruption. The seizure of Scindiah’s ports in Guzerat
would leave no possession on the sea-coast of the western side of the
peninsula to the Marhattas, excepting that occupied by our allies the
peishwah and the guikwar, and the confined territories of Angria and
other piratical states, through which the communication with Scin-
diah’s territories is nearly impracticable.

The operations on the north-west frontier of Oude, under the im-
mediate direction of general Lake, embraced a most important branch
of the war; namely,;rFirst, the destruction of the power of the
French adventurers established on the banks of the Jumna under mon-
sieur Perron. Secondly, the extension of the British frontier to the
Jumna, with the possession of Agra, Delhi, and a sufficient chain of
posts on the right bank of the Jumna for the protection of the naviga-
tion of that river. Thirdly, the protection of the person of the em-
peror Shah Allum. Fourthly, the establishment of an eflicient system
of alliance with the petty states beyond the right bank of ‘the Jumna
from Jeynagur to the province of Bundelcund®. Fifthly, the annexa-~

* This province is situated to the south-west of the Jumna river, about the 24th and
25th degrees of north latitude, :

H tion
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tion of Bundelcund to the company’s dominions ; by which annexa-
tion great additional security would be derived to the rich province
and city of Benares, and an effectual check opposed to whatever power
might remain to the rajah of Berar, or to any other Marhatta chief in

-that quarter.

The result of this plan of operations on the north-west frontier of
Oude would destroy the influence of the I'rench and of the Marhattas

in the northern districts of Hindostan ; and would enable the British
government to commence the foundation of such an intercourse with

the Seiks, and the tribes inhabiting the Punjab, and the banks of the
river Attock, as might furnish sufficient means of frustrating any at--
tempt of an invading enemy from the western side of the Indus.

In addition to these advantages, it was highly important to protect
the person and nominal authority of the moghul against the designs of
France. The person and authority of that unhappy monarch were treated
by the Marhattas and by the French with the most barbarous indignity
and violence ; and it appeared honourable to the reputation of the British
name to afford a secure, respectable, and tranquil asylum to the fallen
dignity and declining age of the emperor of Hindostan. It was also
necessary to extend the protection of* the British government to his
majesty’s heir-apparent, and to any of the royal family ; who might
otherwise fall into the hands of French adventurers, and, under the
direction of French agents, might become a powerful aid to the cause of
France in India.

By the most accurate accounts which have been received on the
subject of the forces of the enemy, it appears that, towards the close
of the month of July, the troops opposed to major-general Wellesley,
under the immediate command of Scindiah and of the rajah of

4 Berar,
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Berar, in the field, amounted to about 38,500 cavalry, 10,500 re-
gular infantry, 500 matchlock-men, 500 rocket-men, and 190 pieces of
ordnance. Two brigades, under monsieur Dudernaigue and major
Brownrigg, amounting to twelve battalions, with a large train of artil-
lery, had been ordered to Hindostan; and monsieur Pohlman’s bri-
gade had been directed to return to Boorhanpoor, leaving with Scin-
diah only eight battalions*, consisting of about 4500 men : the rajah
of Berar’s infantry amounted to 6000 men. These forces were posted
at Julgong, a place at the foot of the Adjuntee ghaut, in the Dekan. In
addition to the troops already stated, Scindiah had an advanced party
of a few thousand horse dispersed through the Adjuntee hills.

The force under the immediate command of monsieur Perron, Scin-
diah’s general in the northern provinces of Hindostan, amounted to
about 16 or 17,000 regular and disciplined infantry, and a well ap-
pointed and numerous train of artillery; together with a body of ir-
regular troops, and from 15 to 20,000 horse, which it was also expected
would be increased by reinforcements of cavalry from the country of
the Seiks, and from the rajahs and petty chiefs on the right bank of
the Jumna river, who were tributary to or in alliance with monsieur
Perron.

The head-quarters of monsieur Perron’s force were established near
Coel, in a commanding situation on the frontier of our possessions,
and on the most vulnerable point of our extensive empire.

The local situation of Scindiah’s territories, and the nature of his
military force in Hindostan, would always have constituted a serious
danger to the British interests, Part of those territories was situated

* Four battalions under monsieur Dupont, and four belonging to Begum Sumroo.
H 2 between
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between the Jumna and the Ganges; they interrupted our line of de-
fence in that quarter ; and some of Scindiah’s principal posts were in-
troduced into the centre of our dominions, while the possession of
Agra, Delhi, and of the right bank of the Jumna, enabled that chief-
tain to command nearly the whole line of our north-western frontier.

Formidable as the power of Scindiah might have proved in the
event of any accession to his strength by a connection with France, or
with any enemy to the British interest, a danger more urgent had
grown out of the decline of Scindiah’s local authority in Hindostan in
the establishment of a regular corps of infantry, under the command
of European officers, supported by funds derivable almost exclusively
from the territorial possessions of Scindiah, situated between the
Jumna, Ganges, and the mountains of Camaon.

A considerable portion of this territory was assigned top monsieur

. Perron, who had formed it into an independent state, of which Scin-

diah’s regular infantry might justly be termed the national army. The
inhabitants of this territory considered monsieur Perron as their im-
mediate sovereign, while the troops supported from the revenues of the
country regarded monsieur Perron as the immediate executive autho-
rity, from which the army was to receive orders, subsistence, and pay.

Possessed of such means, monsieur Perron dictated with the autho-
rity of a sovereign state of superior rank, and with the vigour of effi-
cient military power, to the petty states occupying the countries on the
right bank of the Jumna; and by the terror of his name and arms
held in abject submission the rajepoot states of Jeynagur and Joud-
pore, together with the Jauts and the state of Gohud, extending his
influence even to Bundelcund, and to the country occupied by the
Seiks. ; :
i Under
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Under the influence of a succession of French adventurers the Bri-
tish government must have been exposed to every intrigue of the
French in India, and even to the ambition and hostile spirit of the
person who now rules the French nation ; nor could an instrument of
destruction more skilfully adapted to wound the heart of the British
empire in India have been presented to the vindictive hand of the chief

consul of France.

This French state actually held possession of the person and nomi-
nal authority of the moghul, maintained the most efficientarmy of re-
gular infantry, and the most powerful artillery then existing in India,
(with the exception of his majesty’s and the company’s troops,) and
exercised a considerable influence over the neighbouring states, from
the banks of the Indus to the confluence of the Jumna and the Ganges.
Under any circumstances of an intimate connection between Scindiah
and the British government, even in the event of that chieftain’s acces-
sion to the treaty of Bassein, and to the general defensive alliance with
the company, the nizam, and the peishwah, it is impossible to suppose
that this French state would have co-operated with cordiality in sup-
port of the British interests. -

In the event of an attack from France wpon the British dominions
in India, it could not be expected that a French state, erected under
the nominal and ostensible auspices of Scindiah in Hindostan, would
have afforded any substantial aid to the ally of the British power in a
contest against France, even if that ally should have been disposed to

have assisted us in such a crisis.

On the other hand, no doubt existed that Scindiah would always re-

ceive the most zealous aid from the same state, in any attempt which he
might

1803.
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might make, either for the reduction of the British or for the aggran-
disement of the French power in India.

The safety of the British dominions in India, either with reference
to a contest with Scindiah, to a renewal of war with France, or to both
these contingencies, required therefore the reduction of monsieur Per-
ron’s power ;. and it became the duty of the British government to be
prepared to assume the protection of its own territories, and to remove
with its own hand the proximate cause of insecurity and alarm.

The existence of monsieur Perron’s power was not, however, the
cause of the present war in India; although in the event of a conti-
nuance of the war with France it might have proved highly dangerous
to the British interests, and must have occasioned discussions with
Scindiah. The causes of the war with Scindiah were confined to the
military movements, and to the hostile language and conduct, of that
chief and of his allies. The destruction of monsieur Perron’s force
necessarily became a primary object of the war, commenced on distinct
grounds of complaint against Scindiah.

The forces assembled in different quarters of India, for the purpose
of carrying into effect the governor general’s comprehensive plan of
operations against the confederate Marhatta chieftains, amounted to
about 54,918 men, exclusive of pioneers, gun lascars, and persons
attached to the store and ordnance departments.'

The army under the personal command of general Lake consisted
of three regiments of European and five regiments of native cavalry,
about two hundred European artillery, one regiment of European and
cleven battalions of native infantry, amounting altogether to about

10,500
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10,500 men.  The disposition of this force, towards the commence-
ment of the month of August 1803, is exhibited in the order of battle
which is annexed to these Notes. It is necessary however to observe,
that of this force his'majesty’s 8th regiment of dragoons, the 6th regi-
ment of native cavalry, and the 2d brigade of native infantry, had
not yet joined the army. The 2d brigade and 6th regiment of na-
tive cavalry were at Anopsheer; and the 8th regiment of dragoons
had only at this period reccived its horses from the Nawaub vizer,
and was not yet prepared to move from Cawnpore.

In addition to this force, about 3500 men were assembled near Alla-
habad for the purpose of invading the province of Bundelcund; and
about 2000 men were collected at Mirzapoor to cover the province and
city of Benares, as well as to guard the passes in that quarter. Mea-
sures* were also adopted for the defence of the whole line of the fron-

tier from Mirzapoor to Midnapoor.

The troops under the immediate command of major-general Welles-
ley in the Dekan amounted to 16,823 men; exclusive of which a
force was left at Poonah, consisting of a detachment of his majesty’s
84th regiment, and 1035 sepoys, which were deemed fully suflicient, in
conjunction with such troops as the peishwah himself had at Poonah,
to afford complete protection to his highness, and to repell any attack
which might be made upon that city.

+ Tt has appeared unnecessary to state in this place the detail of these measures, as it
would be difficult to exhibit in a short compags the number and disposition of the troope
employed on this service. It will be sufficient to observe, that every arrangement was
adopted which could insure the complete attainment of the important objects proposed to
be derived from a comprehensive and efficient system of defence.

The
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The force assembled for the invasion of the province of Cuttack
amounted to 5216 men.

It has already been stated that the main body of the army of Fort St.
George had been assembled at Hurryhur, on the north-western frontier
of Mysore, under the personal command of lieutenant-general Stuart.
A part of this army had been detached to Poonah, under the command
of major-general Wellesley, in the month of March 1803. Political
considerations of .importance, combined with advantages in a military
point of view, had induced genéral Stuart, at the suggestion of ma-
jor-general Wellesley, to move with the remainder, towards the end of
the month of May, to Moodgul, a town situated in the doab of the
Kistna and Toombudra rivers, about fourteen marches from Hydera-
bad. This position was admirably well calculated to afford protection
to the nizam’s dominions, to overawe the southern Marhatta jagheer-
dars, and to cover the company’s territories, by enabling genetal Stuart
to interrupt with more facility the march of any body of troops that
might attempt to penetrate into them. The force * at Moodgul
amounted to three companies of European artillery, one regiment of
European and two regiments of native cavalry, three corps of Eu-

¥ The force under lieutenant-general Stuart at Moodgul :
European cavalry - el B < L. a 431
Native ditto - S - = - = 846
- European infantry :
Five companies of the 33d regiment, the 73d regiment,

and seven companies of the 8oth regiment - 1529
European artillery - - - - - - 251
Native infantry - ~ - - 47069

7826

535 artillery lascars, and 620 Madras pioneers,
ropean
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vopean infantry, and five battalions of sepoys, with a large train of
artillery, and a proportion ‘of ‘gun lascars and pioneers, amounting to
7896 fighting men. ‘The dewan and minister of Mysore, with a con-
siderable force, encamped on the frontier of Mysore, in the rear of
- general Stuart; and by his position afforded additional protection to
that country. In conformity to instructions for that purpose from
the governor general, lieutenant-general Stuart detached, on the 29th
of March, to Hyderabad two battalions of sepoys, under the com-
mand of major Irton, for the purpose of securing tranquillity in that
capital, in the event of the demise of the nizam, which at that period
of time was rendered extremely probable from the declining state of
his highness’s health. ' '

Circumstances connected with the arrival of a French armament in
India, and the probability of a renewal of the war with France, ren-
dered an alteration in the strength and disposition of the force at
Moodgul advisable, and induced lieutenant-general Stuart to return to
the presidency of Fort St. George.

The *78d regiment and a battalion of sepoys were in consequence
directed, about the beginning of the month of August, to proceed to
the Carnatic; and the remainder of the army, with -the exception of
two battalions of sepoys, which at different periods in the month of
July were detached for the purpose of joining the troops under the
command of major-general Wellesley, with considerable supplies of
treasure, bullocks, and grain, was left at Moodgul, under the orders of
major-general Campbell, who was directed by lieutenant-general Stuart
to detach the force under his command (or a part of it,) to join the
troops in advance, or to Hyderabad, on receiving a requisition to that
effect from major-general Wellesley, or from major Kirkpatrick, the
resident at the court of the nizam.

I The
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The corps de reserve®, under major-general Campbell, consisted of
one regiment of European and two regiments of native cavalry, a
proportion of European artillerymen, two corps of European and two
battalions of native infantry, with a party of pioneers, amounting to
about 1277 cavalry, 820 European and 1935 native infantry, exclu-
sive of artillery and pioneers.

In addition to the troops under the command of major-general Wel-
lesley, and those stationed at Hyderabad, Poonah, and Moodgul, there
was a forcet in Guzerat, and in the town and dependencies of Surat,
amounting to 2913 Europeans, and 4100 natives; in all 7352 men.
With a view to afford ample security to the valuable and important

* Corps de reserve at Moodgul.

Cavalry—25th dragoons, 1st and 2d regiments } European.  Native. Total.
native cavalry - - 431 — 846 — 1277
Infantry—Five companies of the 33d, and seven
compam}:zs of the 80th regiment - } L P e el U el Uil

About 4032
With a proportion of artillery and pioneers. i

+ Force in Guzerat,

Artillery - - European 188 e Native 339
Infantry—His majesty’s 61st regiment 154
65th. — 763
75th _— 573
84th —_— 272
86th —_ 815
88th -— 148
Native infantry - ~ - A 4100
29013 4439
7352

province
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province of Guzerat,'and at the same time to' have a disposabler force
that might eventually be employed in 'active operations against the
enemy, major-general Wellesley (after providing garrisons for Surat,
Brodera, ‘Cambay, Kareah, Songhur; Purneerah, and eventually for
Baroach,) divided the remainder of the force in Guzerat, amounting
to *¥4281 men, into two detachmentsy of which one, amounting to
21871 men, was stationed in front of Brodera, (the residence of the
guikwar,) to the northward ' of the Nerbudda river, The other de-
tachment, consisting of 2094 men, was directed to occupy a position
south of the Taptee river, between Songhur and Surat; two six-
pounders were attached to each corps, and each of the detachments
was ordered to be completed with two twelve-pounders and two five-
and-half-inch howitzers. The whole of the force in Guzerat was, at
the recommendation of major-general Wellesley, placed under the or-
ders of colonel Murray, of his majesty’s 84th regiment.

* Abstract.

Artillery - - European | 99
Infantry—His majesty’s 65th regiment 763
86th — 815
Native infantry - - = e - 9604
1677 2604
1677
Total 4251
+ Artillery - - B - - 50
~ His majesty’s 86th regiment - - CIN TS
Two battalions of sepoys A - ' 1322
' , : : — 2187
1 Artillery "y - - - 49
His majesty’s 65th regiment - - - 763
Two battalions of sepoys - - 0] saai 1282 ]
e — 2004

32 From
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From these details it appears, that the total number of Britsh
troops including garrisons in Guzerat and at Surat (8071 men), pre-

pared at the commencement of the month of August to support the

arrangements concluded with the peishwah, amounted to 54,918%
men. Of this number about 10,500 men were assembled in the pro-
vinces lately ceded by the Nawaub wvizier to the company, under the
personal command of the commander in chief general Lake; about
5500 men were prepared to invade the province of Bundelcund, and
to cover the province and city of Benares; 5216 men were assembled
for the invasion of the provinece of Cuttack ; 4281 men were stationed
as ‘a field force in Guzerat; 16,823 men were under the immediate
command of major-general Wellesley, and destined for active opera-~
tions against the confederated chieftains ; 1997 men were stationed at
Hyderabad to ensure the tranquillity of that city, and the regular
succession to the musnud on the contingency of the nizam’s death;
1598 remained at Poonah for the protection of that capital, and of the

* Abstract of the forces prepared at the commencement of August 1803 :

In Hindostan, under the personal command of the com-

mander in chief, general Lake - - - 10,500
At Allahabad and Mirzapoor - - - B 5500
In the Dekan, under the immediate personal command of
general Wellesley < - —~ 8903
Subsidiary force under colonel Stevenson - - 7920
16,823
At Hyderabad - - - - - - 1997
At Poonah - - - - - - 1588
At Moodgul - - - - - - 4032
On the march from Moodgul ~ - - - 1900
Field force in Guzerat = - - - - - 4281
Garrisons at ditto, and at Surat - - - - ~ 307%Y
For the invasion of Cuttack - - - - - 5216
Total (exclusive of gun lascars; pioneers; artificers, and store lascars) - 54,918

person
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person of the peishwah ; 1900 were on their march from Moodgul, to
join the troops under major-general Wellesley ; and 4032 men occu-
pied a favourable position in the doab of the Kistna and Toombudra
rivers, under the command of major-general Campbell.

It may be proper to state, in this place, that the expected death of
his highness the nizam took place at Hyderabad on the 6th of Au-
gust 1803. His highness’s eldest son Mirza Secunder Jah was
immediately proclaimed successor to the soubahdarry of the Dekan.
On the Tth of August Mirza Secunder Jah took his seat on the mus-
nud, to which he was conducted by the resident at Hyderabad, and
by rajah Ragotim Rao, the deputy of his late highness’s prime mi-
nister Azim-ul-Omra, and received the congratulatory presents of all
the principal officers of his government at Hyderabad.

The event of the late nizam’s death did not occasion any inter-
ruption of the public tranquillity ; and the accession of Mirza Secun-
der Jah was generally acknowledged by the younger sons of his
late highness, and by all the officers and subjects of his highness’s

gover nment.

The preservation of tranquillity at Hyderabad at that impertant
crisis must be ascribed principally to the position of the British
armies under the command of major-general Wellesley and colonel
Stevenson, and of the corps de reserve stationed at Moodgul, for the
purpose of eventually proceeding to Hyderabad, if the situation of
affairs at that capital should render such a movement expedient or

necessary for the preservation of tranquillity, and for securing the

regular order of succession on the death of the nizam.

The
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The object of tligse notes will now be'directed to the statement of
the progress of the British arms, 'in the contest in which the British
government of India has been unz&vmdably mvolved with the confe-
derate Marhatta chieftains. 1 ' 2

Major-seneril Wellesley thotight it proper; towards the close of the
month of April; to order colonel Stevenson to collect the subsidiary
force and the fiizam’s troops at Gardoon, and to march to the north-
ward towards Aurungabad for 'the protection of that part of the
nizam'’s frontier.

"The detachment under the command of colonel Stevenson* con-

- “sisted of two companies of European artillery, one regiment of Eu-

June 4.
March of ma-
jor-general
Wellesley fiom
Poonah for the
settlement of
the peishwah’s
teqitories.

June 14,

ropean infantry, two regiments of native cavalry, and six battalions
of native infantry, with a fine train of artillery, and a large body of
the nizam’s cavalry and disciplined infantry.

With a view to the settlement of the peishwah’s territories, and to
await the issue of  the negotiation with the confederate Marhatta
chieftains, major-general Wellesley marched from Poonah with the
main body of the forces under his command on the 4th of June, and

‘on the 14th of the same month' encamped 'at Walkee, within a short
‘distance of Ahmednuggur, a strong fort belonging to Dowlut Rao

% Abstract of the force under colonel Stevenson, from the return of the 25th June 1803 :

‘Native cavalry SR 11 - 000
European artillery - <1 - 120
Ditto infantry, (his ma_lcsty s Scotch brigade) 778

- Nativeinfantry ~ - - - 6113
7920

With 276 gun lascars and 202 pioneers.

Scindiah
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Scindiah at the distance of about eighty miles from Poonah, The
force under the command of major-general Wellesley™ amounted to
one regiment of European and three regiments of native cavalry, two
companies of European artillery, two regiments of European and six
battalions of native infantry, with a considerable train of artillery, a
large proportion of artillery lascars and native pioneers, and a body
of 2400 horse furnished by the rajah of Mysore. The army under
general Wellesley was also accompanied by an inconsiderable propor-
tion of the contingent of troops (about 3000 horse) which the peish-
wah is required to furnish by the treaty of Bassein. There is no
reason however to ascribe this deficiency to any want of inclination
on the part of his highness to adhere to the faith of his engagements
with the British government. The peishwah’s contingent and the
rajah of Mysore’s cavalry occupied a position at Sargaree, about twenty
miles south-east of Ahmednuggur.

Major-general Wellesley received intelligence of the issue of the
British resident’s negotiation with Scindiah and the rajah of Berar on
the 6th of August 1803, but was prevented from moving by a
very heavy fall of rain which lasted for three days, and which had
rendered the road from Walkee to Ahmednuggur totally impassable.
The weather cleared up however on the 7th; and on the 8th of Au-
gust major-general Wellesley commenced his march towards the

* Force under major-general Wellesley.

Cavalry,—His majesty’s 19th dragoons and } European. Native. Total.

the 4th, 5th, and 7th regts. native cavalry, 384 — 1347 ~— 1731
‘Artillery - = - - N - - - - 172
Infantry.—His majesty’s 74th and 78th regts.} 1368 suivigach o lsbbe

and six battalions of sepoys

With 357 artillery lascars and 653 Madras pioneers, Total 8903
fortress
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fortress of Ahmednuggur, the fortified town of which was on the
morning of the same day attacked and carried by escalade. On ar-
riving within a short distance of the fortress, three parties were im=-
mediately formed for the purpose of assaulting the fortified town.
The party on the left, commanded by lieutenant-colonel Harness as
brigadier of the day, consisted of two flank companies of his ma-
jesty’s T8th regiment, and the advanced picquets; the centre attack
was composed of eight companies of the 74th regiment with some
sepoys, under the orders of lieutenant-colonel Wallace; and the
party on the right was commanded by captain Vesey, who had under
his orders the two flank companies of the 74th, and the 1st battalion
of the 3d regiment native infantry.

The attack under captain Vesey succeeded without difficulty ; but
the scaling ladders of the party on the left, under lieutenant-colonel
Harness, were placed against a part of the wall which had no rampart,
and the troops were fired upon from the inside of the town as soon
as they had reached the top of the ladders, without the possibility of
descending into the town to charge the enemy. Colonel Harness,
finding that he could not obtain a footing on the wall, drew off’ the
party, and entered the town at another point. ' In the mean time, his
centre attack under lieutenant-colonel Wallace had moved on ‘and
placed the ladders against a bastion, which they carried with great
ease. The enemy made some resistance in the streets, and a party of
Arabs actually charged the grenadiers of the 78th. They were instantly
repulsed, and put to flight; and the town was soon afterwards eva-
cuated by the enemy, who had suffered some loss. .On the 10th of
Angust batteries were opened against the fort, which surrendered on
the 12th of the same month. The - official details of this operation
are so.complete, that it will be sufficient to refer to the printed copy

' 3 ; of
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of major-general Wellesley’s dispatch of the 12th of August to the  1s03.
governor general, which is annexed to these Notes. Tm o
‘ et s con
The possession of this fortress is of peculiar importance to the pro- M i
secution of our military operations, by securing the communication
with Poonah, and by affording a dep6t for supplies of provisions and
military stores. Major-general Wellesley, immediately after the cap-
ture of the fort, proceeded to take possession of all the districts depen-
dent on Ahmednuggur, yielding an estimated annual revenue of
6,34,000 rupees. These districts were placed under the temporary

management and authority of a British officer.

A respectable garrison was also stationed in Ahmednuggur ; and
every other arrangement being completed, major-general Wellesley
moved to the Godavery river, which he crossed with the whole of his
army by the 24th of August. Apgust 24.

On the 29th of August major-general Wellesley arrived at Aurun- Augusc2s.
gabad. Dowlut Rao Scindiah and the rajah of Berar had on the 24th
of August entered the territories of the nizam by the ghaut of Ad-
Jjuntee, with a large body of horse. They passed between colonel Ste-
venson’s corps (which had moved to the eastward towards the Badowly
ghaut) and Aurungabad, and reached Jalnapoor, a small fort, the ca-
pital of a district of the same name, about forty miles east from Au-
rungabad. As soon as the enemy heard of major-general Wellesley’s
arrival at Aurungabad, they moved to the southward and eastward,
with_gn intention, as it was reported, to cross the Godavery, and march
upon Hyderabad. Major-general Wellesley immediately marched to
the banks of that river, and continued to move to the eastward
along its left bank. The river, at that period of time, was ford-

K able
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1803.  able in every part; which is a circumstance that was never before
: known to have happened at that season of the year.

This movement checked the enemy’s operations to the southward,
and they immediately returned to the northward of Jalnapoor. It
also afforded complete protection to two important convoys of grain
and treasure, which had been detached by lieutenant-general Stuart
from Moodgul, and of which the last convoy under major Hill
joined major-general Wellesley’s force on the 18thof September.

Jalnapoor Colonel Stevenson returned from the eastward on the lst of Sep~
of Sepember.  tember, and on the 2d attacked and carried the fort of Jalnapoor.
While general Wellesley was engaged in covering the advance of his
convoys, and in preventing the enemy from crossing the Godavery
river, colonel Stevenson made several attempts to bring the confede-
Col: Bievenson Tates to action. He was successful in the night of the 9th of Sep-
%%‘:Efﬁfzfp .ten'lber in. Surpr;smg their camp, but. the nature of the. attack makes
it impossible to know the exact amount of the loss which the enemy

sustained on that occasion.

During their incursion towards the Godavery river, the enemy’s ir-
regular horse occasioned little injury to the nizam’s territories, and
in many places they were defeated by the common peons* stationed
in the different villages which they attacked. ~Finding that this mc;de
of warfare was not attended with success, the confederate chieftains de-
termined to change their plan of operations, and moved to the north-
ward, near the Adjuntee pass, where they were joined by a detachment

* Peons, utegular infantry of the worst kind, generally employed in the coﬂecﬂ;on of
the revenue,

of
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of regular infantry (under the command of monsieur Pohlman and 1803
monsieur Dupont), consisting of sixteen battalions*, with a large and

well equipped train of artillery. The whole of the enemy’s army was
collected about Bokerdun, and between that place and Jaffierabad.

~ On the 215t of  September the two corps under the command of  2stsent
major-general Wellesley and colonel Stevenson met at Budnapoor ;

and it was determined that the two divisions should move separately
towards the enemy, and attack them on the morning of the 24th.

The disposition which the confederates had hitherto manifested to
avoid an action, and the necessity of making a vigorous effort against

their main force, afforded no other means of effecting these import-

ant objects than the plan adopted on this occasion by major-general
Wellesley. ~ With this view, the two divisions marched on the 22d; 22dsept.
colonel Stevenson by the western route, and major-general Welles-

ley by the eastern route round the hills between Budnapoor and

Jalna..

The division under major-general Wellesley marched to Paugy ‘on
the 22d of September, and on the 23d to Naulnair, at which place
intelligence was received that the combined armies of Scindiah and
the rajah of Berar were encamped at the distance of about six

~Ordered back towards the end of
August from Boorhanpoor. Two
battalions had already crossed
4 the Taptee on their way to that .
place, when the whole brigade
received orders to return and join

~ Scindiah’s camp,

* Monsieur Pohlman’s brigade - - - 6000
Monsicur Dupont’s - - - - - 2400

Four battalions belonging to Begum Sumroo 2000

Total infantry, exclusive of artillerymen,

and of the rajah of Berar’s infantry E 10,400

£.2 : : miles
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miles from the ground on which general Wellesley had intended to
encamp.

General Wellesley immediately determined to attack the enemy,
instead of waiting until the morning of the 24th for the arrival of
colonel Stevenson. If general Wellesley had not adopted this judi-
cious and spirited resolution, the enemy would probably have haras-
sed him during the whole day of the 23d ; and as he could afford no
other security to the baggage of his army, than the intrenchments
which he might be enabled to construct, it must have been exposed to
loss if he had waited until the 24th: at all events, he would have been
obliged to leave more than one battalion for the protection of the
baggage. By attacking on the 23d, the enemy would be kept in ig-
norance respecting the position of the baggage of our army: and in
addition to these circumstances, there was every reason to believe that
the enemy would learn that colonel Stevenson was on his march to
attack them on the 24th ; in which case, it was extremely probable
that they would withdraw their guns and infantry in the course of
the night of the 23d, in order that they might avoid the combined
attack of the British armies on the 24th. The immediate attack
of the enemy, therefore, was a measure of prudence as well as of
courage.

Having provided for the security of his baggage and stores, which
were left at Naulnair, under the protection of a battalion of sepoys
and four hundred men taken from the native corps, general Wel-
lesley moved on towards the army of the confederates, which he found
encamped between and along the course of two rivers, the Kaitna
and the Juah, towards their junction. Fheir line extended east and
west along the north bank of the Kaitna river, the banks of which
are high and rocky, and are impassable for guns, excepting at places
close to the villages. '

"The
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The right of the enemy, which consisted entirely of cavalry, was
posted in the vicinity of Bokerdun, and extended to their line of in-
fantry, which was encamped in the neighbourhood of the fortified
village of Assye. - The British army had marched fourteen miles to
Naulnair ; and the distance from that place to the enemy’s camp
being six miles, it was one o’clock in the afternoon before the British
troops came in sight of the combined army of the confederates. -

Although major-general Wellesley arrived in front of the right of
the enemy, he determined to attack their left, where the guns and in-
fantry were posted; and accordingly marched round to their left
flank, covering the march of the column of British infantry by the
British cavalry in the rear, and by the Marhatta (the peishwah’s) and
Mysore cavalry on the right flank.

The British troops passed the river Kaitna at a ford beyond the
enemy’s left flank, near the village of Pepulgaon. Major-general
Wellesley formed the infantry in two lines, with the British cavalry as
a reserve in a third, in an open space between the Kaitna and the
Juah rivers, which run nearly parallel. The peishwah’s and the My-
sore cavalry* occupied the ground beyond, or to the southward of
the Kaitna river on the left flank of the British troops, and kept in
check a large body of the enemy’s cavalry, which had followed gene-
ral Wellesley’s route from the right of their own position. The first

* This corps has performed all the duties of light troops with general Wellesley’s army
since its march from Mysore in March 1803, (during which time they were frequently
engaged with the enemy,) with a degree of alacrity and zeal which has seldom been dis-
played by troaps of this description. To the credit of the government of Mysore, this
body of cavalry is as regularly paid as the British troops. The peishwah’s troops have also
conducted themselyes in a manner to merit approbation,

4
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line of major-general Wellesley’s infantry consisted of the advanced
picquets to the right, two battalions of sepoys, and his majesty’s T8th,
regiment ; the second, of his majesty’s T4th regiment and two batta-
Lons of sepoys ; and the third, of his majesty’s 19th dragoons with
three regiments of native cavalry.

The number of British troops engaged appears to have amounted
to about 1200 cavalry, European-and native, 1300 European infantry
and artillery, and 2000 sepoys ; in all about 4500 men. The force of
the enemy consisted of sixteen regular battalions of infantry* (amount-
ing to: 10,500 men) commanded by European officers, a well equipped
train of artillery exceeding in number one hundred guns, and some
very large bodies of horse, consisting, it is stated, (and as it would-
appear from a reference to the statement of the forces of the con--
federates as they stood at the commencement of the month of
August,) of between 30 and 40,000 men.

The enemy commenced a cannonade, but with little effect, as the -
British troops advanced to the Kaitna river, and, having discovered
general Wellesley’s intention to attack their left, changed the posi-.
tion of their infantry and guns, which no longer, as at first, was
along the north bank ‘of the Kaitna river, but extended from that
riyer across to the village of Assye upon the Juah river, which was
upon the right of the British army. A second line was formed
nearly at right angles to the rear of the enemy’s first line, with its
left towards ‘the village of Assye, and its rear to the Juah river,
along the bank of which it extended in a westerly direction from the
village of Assye. General Wellesley immediately attacked the enemy,,

* The rajah’ of Berar’s infantry, and Scindials irregular infantry, are not i_i;.qlud;;_d in,
this number. ' '

and
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and the British troops advanced under a very severe fire from the
enemy’s cannon, the execution of which was ‘terrible. The British
artillery had opened upon the enemy-at 'the distance of four hundred
yards; but general Wellesley finding that it produced little effect on
the enemy’s powerful and extensive line of infantry and guns, and
that his guns could not advance on account of the number of men
and bullocks: which had been' disabled, ordered his artillery to be
left behind, and the whole line to-move on: at the same time major-
general Wellesley directed lieutenant<colonel Maxwell, ‘with the British
cavalry, to take care of the right -of the infantry as the line advanced
towards -the enemy, who were soon compelled (notwithstanding
their tremendous cannonade) to fall back upon the ‘second line in
front of the Juah river. The picquets of the infantry and ‘the 74th
regiment, which were on the right of general Wellesley’s first and
second lines, suffered particularly from the fire of the guns on the left
of the enemy’s position near Assye. The 74th regiment was so
thinned by the senemy’s cannonade, that a body of the enemy’s ca-
valry was encouraged to charge it, at the moment when the regiment
was most exposed to this fire: but the enemy were charged in turn
by the British cavalry, who had been directed to protect the right
of general Wellesley’s line, and who drove the enemy with great
slaughter into the Juah river. At length the enemy’s line, over-
awed by the steady advance of the British troops, gave way in every
direction ; and the British cavalry, who had crossed to the northward
of the Juah river, cut in among their broken infantry, and charged the
fugitives along the bank of the river with the greatest effect.  General
Wellesley’s force was not equal in numbers to the duty of securing all
his advantages in the heat of the action; and many of the enemy’s guns,
which had been feft in his rear; were turned again upon the British
troops by individuals, who having thrown themiselves upon the ground
near the enemy’s guns, had been passed by the British Tine under the

SUpposition
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supposition that they were dead,, and who availed themselves of this
artifice (which is often practised by the troops composing the armies
of native powers in India) to continue for some time a very heavy
fire.

Some of the enemy’s corps however went off in good order, and
lieutenant-colonel Maxwell was killed in charging with the British
cavalry (who had recrossed the Juah river) a body of infantry which
had retired, and was again formed. Some time elapsed before the
fire which the enemy kept up from the guns which they had man-
ned in the rear of the British line could be stopped; and general
Wellesley was himself obliged to take the 78th regiment and the Tth
regiment native cavalry to effect this object. In the course of this
operation the general’s horse was shot under him. The enemy'’s
cavalry also, which had been hovering round the British troops
throughout the action, still continued near general Wellesley’s line.
In a short time, however, the body of the enemy’s infantry, which
had formed again, and had been charged by the British cavalry, gave
way; and general Wellesley having compelled the parties of the
enemy in the rear of his line to abandon the guns which they had
seized and turned against the British troops, the victory was decided,
and the enemy retreated, leaving twelve hundred men dead on the
field of battle, the whole country covered with their wounded, and
in the possession of the British troops, ninety-eight pieces of can-
non, seven standards, their camp equipage, a great number of bul-
locks and camels, and a large quantity of military stores and am-
Munition.

During this severe and brilliant action, the conduct of major-general
Wellesley united a degree of ability, prudence, and of dauntless spirit,
seldom equalled and never surpassed. It is impossible to bestow any

commendation
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commendation ;superior to the skill, magnanimity, promptitude and
Judgment dlsplayed by major-general Wellesley. on this memorable
occasion ; nor can any mstance be adduced from the annals of our mi-,
litary glory of more exemplar}f order, firmness, discipline, and alacrity,
than was manifested by the British troops in every stage of the arduous
contest which preceded. the splendid victory of Assye. The whole
line, led by general Wcllesley in person, advanced to the charge
with the greatest bravery and steadiness, without its guns, against a
most severe and d(estructwe ﬁre of 1011_11& and grape, until within a
very short dlstancg of the enemy, Whom the British troops compelled
(nq%thhstandmg theu‘ qupenor numbel 5) At the point of th[e ba.yonet
to abandon their guns, and to 1e1mqu1sh the ﬁeld of battle, wluch Smp-
diah’s infantry had maintained with much obstinacy for more than
three hours. Several oﬂicg:,rs in genelal Wellesley s army, who bave
served durmg the late campaigns in the continent of Europe, have .
declared., that it is no disparagement to the French artillery to say, that
Cannon were never- better served than by the enemy at. Assye on the
23(1 of‘ September, but notwuhstaudmg this circumstance, and the
appeara;uce of large bodles of the enemy’s- cavalry, who several times
manifested a_ dlsposmon to charge general Wellesley's 11ne, the British
troops, animated by the galla.nt spirit of their general, and emulanng
the noble example of his zeal and courage, exhibited a degree of re-
soluuon, ﬁrmness and “discipline, which completely overawed the
enemy’s cavalry and mfantry, and forced them both to retire with the
loss of 1200 men killed in-the ﬁeld of battle, besides a vast number of
wounded, scattered over the country in the vicinity of the field of bat-
tle. Tt is reported that Scindial’s principal minister received a2 wound
in the! action, of which he afterwards died, and an European officer
(apparently of rank) was also cut down, and afterwal ds found dead on’
the ﬁeld ofbattle. LR e
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The loss sustained by the British troops irt this glorious and decisive
action was very severe, and (as well as the number and description of .
the ordnance taken from the enemy) is exhibited in major-general
Wellesley’s official dispatch, which (together with the general orders
issued by the governor general in council, on this memorab[e occasmn)
forms a number in the Appendix to these Notes. WO

Colonel Stevenson with the corps under his command joined
major-general Wellesley on the evening of the 24th, and was imme-
diately detached in pursuit of the enemy. Colonel Stevenson had
experienced several impediments, which prevented his joining major-
general Wellesley so soon as was expected: but no blame can:be im-
puted to that gallant officer, whose conduct has always been distin-
guished by the greatest zeal, activity, and pﬁb_]it_ spirit.

On the 8th of October major-general Wellesley received a letter from
the camp of Scindiah, signed by Ballajee Khoonjur *, one of Scindiah’s

‘ministers, requesting that ‘major-general Wellesley would dispatch a

British officer, together with an officer of the soubah of the Dekan, to
the enemy’s camp, for the purpose of negotiating terms of peace
between the allies and the confederate Marhatta chieftains. ~ Major-
general Wellesley refused to comply with the request of Ballajee
Khoonjur; first, because in the application of Ballajee Khoon_mr no
reference was made to the authdfityj cither of Dowlut Rao Scindiah or
the rajah of Berar, and consequently that it was not certain that the
appliczltibt;'pi'_bl:’eg‘;ded from either of those chieftains, either or both of

© * Rallnjee: Khoorijur was ofiginially dispatched by his highness the peishwah from Bassein

to Ddwlut. Rao; Scindiah, for the purpese of explaining o that chiéftain the riature of the
engagements concluded by the -peishwah and the British government; but, withthe ac-
customed versatility and treachery of a Marhatta politician, Ballajee Khoonjur has subse-
quently attached himself to the seryice of Scindiak,

L whom
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whom might thereafter disavow the act of Ballajee Khoonjur; and,
secondly, because the presence of a British officer in the enemy’s GHP
at that moment, would have tended to raise the spirits of the enemy’s
troops, and to prevent their dispersion, and would have been represented
by the enemy as an attempt on the part of the British government to
sue for peace: but signified at the same time his disposition to receive
at the British camp, with every mark of honour and respect, any person
duly empowered by the direct:authority of Dowlut Rao Scindiah, or
of the rajah of Berar, to propose terms of peace to the allied powers.

The confederates having collected the remains of their broken army,
and moved to the westward along the bank of the Taptee, probably with
a view to proceed to the southward, by the road which leads by the
Caserbary ghaut and Ahmednuggur, to Poonah, general Wellesley de-
termined not to descend the Adjuntee ghaut with the division under
his immediate command, but to remain to the southward, and to re-
gulate his movements by those of the enemy. Colonel Stevenson,
however, was directed to continue his route to Boorhanpoor *; and
there can be little doubt but that the fall of that city, and of the strong
and important hill fort of Asseerghur (which has been denominated
the key of the Dekan), will soon add another triumph to the British
arms on the western side of India.

While major-general Wellesley was employed in watching the move-
ments and checking the inroads of the armies of Dowlut Rao Scindiab

* Authentic advices have since been received from the resident at Hyderabad, under datc
the 6th of November, announcing the surrender of this city to the forces under the com-
mand of colonel Stevenson on the 16th of October; and the capitulation of the fort of
As :eerghur , situated abont twenty miles north-east of Boorhanpoor, to colonel Stevenson on
the 21st of the same month. The garison of Asscerghur are prisoners of war. - A vaqueel
of high rank from Dewlut Rao Scindiah has also arr ived in the camp of ma}or——«eﬁcral
Wiellesley for the purposc of nc,gqﬂanncr a peace.—Vide the oflicial Gazettes in Appen-

dw D. :
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and the rajah of Berar, these chieftains received the most severe blows

from the successes of the other divisions of the British armies, who
were employed in the operations’against the provinces of Guzerat on
the western, and of Cuttack on the eastern side of India. '

In conformity to the plan of operations suggested to the govern-
ment of Bombay' by major-general Wellesley, under the orders of the
governor general lieutenant-colonel 'Woodington of the Bombay es-
tablishment, with a respectable detachment composed of his majesty’s
86th regiment, and a proportion of European artillery and native
mfantry, marched from Baroda on the 21st of August, and encamped
within two miles of the fort '6f Ba_roac_h on the 23d. On the 24th
licutenant-colonel Woodington moved on to Bargood, and found the
enemy in front of the pettah, ready to receive him. The enemy was
soon compelled to retreat into the fort; and on the following ‘morning
lieutenant-colonel Woodington attacked and took possession of the
pettah on the western face of the fort of Baroach. -

"The fort of Baroach was stormed and carried on the 29th of August;
the day on which general Lake, on the north-west frontier of ' Oude -
(a direct distance of about six hundred miles) attacked and ‘compelled
monsieur Perron’s forces to quit the field of battle near Coel.

The breach was reported to be practicable at one A, M. on the 29th;
but lieutenant-colonel Woodington was induced to delay the assault
until three o'clock P. M., not only that he might profit by the assist-
ance of the Fury gun-vessel and an armed boat, which it was expected
would arrive in time to take their stations opposite to the fort, but
that it appeared to colonel Woodington, that the proposed time for the
assault was a likely hour to find the enemy off their guard. The vessel
and the armed boat however did not arrive in time to afford any

assistance, ‘The storming party, consisting of 100 Europeans and 200
1 natives,
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natives, was led by captain Richardson of his majesty’s 86th regiment,
supported by a second party, amounting to one hundred and fifry
Furopeans and two hundred and fifty natives, under the command of
major Cuyler of the same regiment. The reserve, under captain Be-
thune of the Bombay establishment, was composed of one hundred
Europeans and one hundred sepoys. -

The enemy opposed a vigorous resistance to the attack of the troops,
but were soon compelled to retreatand to abandon the fort, which was
completely carried with little losson the part of the British troeps. After
captain Richardson had obtained possession of the first gateway, ma_}or
Cuyler, with the supporting party, pushed on so rapidly that he over-
took a party of Arabs before they could effect their escape out of the
fort, and killed about two hundred in the attack. The enemy also lost
several horses during the attack on this party of Arabs, which was
composed of cavalry and infantry. The casualties on the part of the
British troops during the siege of Baroach were not severe, and are
detailed in the official gazette of the 8d of October 1803, which is an-
nexed to these Notes. Together with the fort of Baroach, the honour-
able company. obtained possession. of the district of that name, which.
yields an estimated annual revenue of eleven lacs of rupees.

After the capture of B‘Lroach, lieutenant-colonel Woodmgton pro-
ceeded to reduce the district of Champaneer, which was the only ter-
ritory remaining to Scindiah in the province of Guzerat; and after-
wards attacked the fort of Powanghur, a strongly fortified hill, with
the town of Champancer attached, situated about twenty-five miles
east of Brodera, on the western confines of the province of Malwa.
The town or pettah of Champaneer was attacked and carried by assault
with little loss on the part of the British troops, and the fort was sum-
moned to surrender. 'The killahdar having refused to comply with

the summons, preparations were immediately made for the attack of
sy a0 S (0
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the'fort, which was to have been stormed on the 17th of September,
when the fort capitulated and was immediately occupied by the British
troops. The operations of the army of Bombay in Guzerat were all
planned and executed with the greatest judgment, ‘spirit, and courage.

Tt has already been stated, that a ptincipal object of the governor
general’s attention was directed to the formation of an arrangement
for the occupation of the province of Cuttack. For this purpose a
part of the northern’ division of the army under the presidency of

Tort St. George, commanded by lieutenant-colonel Campbell of his

1113.]@3!:}"8 74th regiment, was ordered to be ]101den in readiness to pro-
ceed on that expedition from Ganjam; and a detachment, consisting of
two companies of his majesty’s 22d regiment, and a part of the 20th
Bengal regiment, was dispatched from Fort William to reinforce the
troops under lieutenant-colonel Campbell's command. The whole of
that force consisted of five hundred and seventy-three Europeans of
his majesty’s and the honourable compémy s troops, 2408 sepdys, and a
pal ty of natwe cavalry consisting of sucty men.

The governor general had also directed a detachment consisting ot
five hundred Bengal native volunteers to proceed by sea, under the
command of captain Dick, for the purpose of occupying the post of
Balasore Previously, however, to the departure of this detachment
from Fort William, intelligence was. received, which induced the
governor general to consider it possible that the Marhatta forces in
Berar had been reinforced, and that a vigorous opposition might be
expected at the fort of Cuttack, as well as during the advance of the
Bnush uoops from Ganjam

This circumstance determined the governor general to send captain
Dick’s detachment, with some additional battering guns, direct to
Ganjam, for the purpose of reinforcing the main body of the British

troops
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troops advancing from that quarter; and the detachment accordingly
embarked* from Fort William on the 30th of August. -

In consequence of a severe illness, lieutenant-colonel Campbell was ...

rendered unable to proceed with the detachment from Ganjam. The
governor general therefore, at the express solicitation of lieutenant:

colonel Campbell, then confined to his bed by a wviolent fever, dis-

patched on the 28th of August his military secretary lieutenant-colonel
Harcourt, of his majesty’s 12th regiment of foot, to Ganjam, for the
purpose of taking the command of the troops assembled at that station.
The governor general also directed a second detachment of five hun-
dred native volunteers, a proportion of artillery men, four . field
pieces, and a proportion of stores, to embark under the command of
" captain Morgan of the Bengal establishment, on the 13th of September,
from Fort William, and to occupy Balasore. Another detachment was
at the same time formed at Jelasore, under the command of lieu-
tenant-colonel Fergusson of the establishment of Bengal, consisting of
770 sepoys and 84 men of the governor general’s body guard, with two
galloper guns, for the purpose of advancing into the province of
Cuttack, and forming a junction with the detachment at Balasore,
when the state of the intermediate country, and the progress of the
main division under lieutenant-colonel Harcourt, should favour that
movement. This detachment was supported by a force of eight hun-
dred sepoys and some artillery, assembled at Midnapore, which was af-
terwards reinforced by about five hundred native volunteers, who left
Fort William for that purpose towards the end of the month of Sep-

tember.

’

* Battering guns, &c. with captain Dick :

"Four eighteen-pounder iron guns—four twelve ditto—two five and a half inch howit-
zers, with a due proportion of shells—4000 eighteen-pounder shot—4000 twelye-pounder
ditto, with a quantity of stores, materials, intrenching tools; &c, &c,

The
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The total number of  troops assembled for the invasion of the pro=
vince of Cuttack, therefore, amounted to 4916 men*: of this number
3041 formed the main detachment, which was to advance from Ganjam
under the command of lieutenant-colonel Harcourt, who was appointed
to the general command of all the forces employed on this service; five
hundred men were on their way under captain Dick to reinforce lieu.

tenant-colonel Harcourt; five hundred: and twenty-one (including

twenty-one artillery men) under the command of captain Morgan, were
destined to occupy Balasore; 854 were stationed at Jelasore, ready to

~advance whenever that movement might be “deemed. advisable; and
1800 remained. at Midnapore, to -support. the troops at Balasore

and Jelasore, and to afford at the same time protection to the frontier
of the company’s territories against the incursions of any of the rajah

.of Berar's predatory horse, Aot S

'On the 8th of September the troops under ‘the command of lieu-
tenant-colonel Campbell commenced their. march from Gangam, On

* Abstract of the force isscmb!ed for the invasion of the provmcc of Cuttack, under the
command of licutenant-colonel Harcourt

Furopean infantry, |~ 10 <0 - - 578
Native infantry, = - 2408
Native cavalry, - - - 60

' — 3041
With captain Dick, - - 500
With captain. Morgan, 4, = 591

With lieutenant-colonel Fergusson : . 1
Sepoys, - - - 770
Cavalry, - - - e 8e
854

Total actually assembled, = ='a 4916
At Midnapore, - - - =" 1300
Total that might eventually have been employed = '+~ 6216,

the
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the 11th of September lieutenant-colonel Harcourt arrived at Gangam,
and took the command of the troops. Lieutenant-colonel Campbell,
with the zeal and spirit which he has manifested on so many occasions,
had endeavoured, notwithstanding his illness, to proceed with the
troops from Ganjam, but had been cartied back after one day’s march
in a state which menaced his life for several weeks, and rendered him
utterly unable to move with the expedition.

On the 14th of September the British troops conducted by lLieu-
tenant- colonel Harcourt took possession of Manickpatam without any
resistance on the part of the Marhattas, who fled on the approach of
colonel Harcourt’s force.

From that station lientenant-colonel Harcourt dispatched a letter to
the principal bramins of the pagoda of Jaggernaut, encouraging them
to place r_he pagoda under the protection of the British troops.

On the 16th a favourable answer was received from the bramins, and
a deputation was sent to the British camp to claim the protection which
- had been offered by lieutenant-colonel Harcourt ; and on the 18th the
British troops encamped at Jaggernaut, which was immediately evacu-
ated by the Marhatta forces.

The inundated state of the country prevented the march of the
British troops from Jaggernaut until the 24th of September. During
the march from Jaggernaut to Cuttack the advanced corps of colonel
Harcourt’s division were frequently engaged with parties of the enemy’s
troops, who were always repulsed with loss. Owing, however, to a
very heavy fall of rain {which had rendered the roads impassable), and
the consequent rise of the rivers which intervene between Jaggernaut
and the town of Cuttack, lieutenant-colonel Harcourt’s progress was
much retarded, and the British troops did not reach Cuttack until the

M 10th
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10th-of October, when the town was immediately taken p@ééeésioﬁ.
of without epposmon on the part/of the enemy

The detachment u:nder the command of captain Morgan landed at
Balasore on the 21st of September, and succeeded in occupying that
station after some resistance on the part ‘of the enemy. On the 1st of
October captain Morgan detached ‘two companies of sepoys towards
Soorong, a post twenty miles south of Balasore, which was then oc-
cupied by the enemy. = This detachment routed a party posted at a
village a short distance on the north side of Soorong; and being after-
wards reinforced by another company, took possession of Soorong on
the 3d of October without further resistance.

Lieutenant-colonel Fergusson ‘with the detachment under his com-
mand, moved from Jelasore on the 23d of September, and on the 4th
of October arrived at Balasore without any opposition. On the 10th of
that month lieutenant-colonel Fergusson marched from Balasore with 2
force* consisting of about 816 men, in consequence of orders from the
governor general, directing that officer to proceed to the sauthward, for
the purpose of forming a junction with the troops under the command
of lieutenant-colonel Harcourt at Cuttack. Durmg tb,e Whole of these
transactions the inhabitants of the province of Cuttack afforded every
assistance to the British troops on their march, and expressed the utmost

A

#* Detachment under lieutenant-colonel Fer«usson, whxch marched from Ba].asore on Lhe

10th of October : & RYT
European artillery, 5 & L IO 1 S R
Native cavalry from the goveinor general’s body-guard, (771 w77 L0000 g 000

» 2d battalion 7th native infantry, - sl e 36 Tt 4 v age yasw
sth native infantry, a detachment, ot i g iR 147,

: Total '~ 816
With two field-pieces, two galloper guns, and fifty gun lascars, pa

satisfaction
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satisfaction at: the prospect of being soon placed under the protection
of -the British government. res bR

1. Ligutenant-colonel Harcourt had been actively e'mployéd in prepara-
tions for the siegé of the fort of Barabutty at Cuttack. This fort iswof
strength, and has only one entrance by 2 narrow bridge, leading over a
wet ditch; twenty feet in depth, and varying in breadth, according to the
situation of the bastions, from thirty-five to one hundred and thirty-
five-feet.. ' On the night of the 12th of October a spot was marked out
for a battery to receive a twelve-pounder, distant about five hundred
yards from the outer gate of the fort. 'This battery was completed on
the night of the 13th, and the twelve-pounder placed in it, together

with two howitzers and two six pounders, the whole of which opened.

their fire on the morning of the 14th. By eleven o’clock in the fore-
noon of that day, most of the defences in the south face of the fort
« {against which the fire was directed) were taken off; and the enemy’s
guns silenced.  Every thing seemed to promise success to an assault,
and lieutenant-colonel Harcourt accordingly ordered lieutenant-colonel
Clayton to storm the fort, and to advance with one six-pounder, a party
_of artillery-men, two hundred Europeans from his majesty’s 22d and
the Madras European regiments, and four hundred sepoys from the
20th Bengal, and the 9th and 19th regiments of Madras native inZ
fantry. 'The storming party in passing the bridge were exposed to a
heavy but'ill-directed fire of musquetry from' the fort, and forty mi-
nutes elapsed before they succeeded in blowing open the wicket (the re-
maining part of the gate having been strengthened with thick masses
of stone).  Having accomplished this object, the storming party passed
through the wicket singly ; and although they experienced. cansiderable
resistance in entering the fort and forcing two other gates, the British
troops were completely victorious, and obtained possession of the fort,

which was immediately abandoned by the enemy, whose loss was con-
' M 2 siderable.
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siderable. In the course of the assault the storming party’ took four
standards of colouss, and manifested the same bravery and steadiness
which has distinguished the conduct of the British armies, in every
quarter of India, during the progress of the present campaign against
Dgwlut Rao Scindiah and the rajah of Berar. By the success of the
British arms in the province of Cuttack, the whole of that valuable
province (which, exclusive of many other important advantages, is in-
dispensably necessary to secure a free and uninterrupted communication
between the supreme government of India and the subordinate presi-
dencies of Fort St. George and Bombay) has been annexed to the domi-
nions of the honourable company. In consequence of the interruption
of the communication between Ganjam and Fort William through
Cuttack, in the course of the present campaign, after the commence-
ment of the north-east monsoon, all correspondence between the go-
vernor general, the governments of Fort St. George and Bombay, the
honourable major-general Wellesley, and the residents at Poonah and
Hyderabad, was absolutely suspended ; and the governor general for se-
veral days was entirely ignorant of the progress of events in those
parts of India, during a crisis of affawrs which, connected with the
renewal of war with France, and the probability of hostilities with
Holland, may be considered to be the most important which has ever
occurred in India,

The regular order of events has been interrupted for the purpose
of bringing into one point of view all the transactions connected
with the military operations against the main armies in the Dekan,
under the personal command of Dowlut Rao Scindiah and of the
rajah of Berar; and with the destruction of their resources and
power in the Dekan, and in the provinces of Guzerat on the western
and of Orissa on the eastern side of India. It will now be proper to
revert to the transactions which have occurred on the north-west

frontier
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frontier of Oude, and to exhibit the result of the operations which
were entrusted to the personal direction and command of his excellency
general Lake.

Similar reasons to those which induced the governor general to
grant full powers to major-general Wellesley, and eventually to lieu-
tenant-general Stuart, required that a temporary authority should also
be constituted in the vicinity of the north-west frontier of Oude,
with full authority to conclude upon the spot whatever arrangements
might become necessary for the purpose of accomplishing the plan of
operations proposed by the governor general to be carried into execu-
tion against Dowlut Rao Scindiah’s forces in that quarter of Hin-
dostan.  This power could not be exercised with propriety and
-advantage to the public service by any other person than the com-
mander in chief; and the governor general determined therefore to
west this important and difficult trust in the hands of general Lake.
Accordingly the governor general, on the 27th of July 1808, em-
powered the commander in chief to exercise the general direction and
control of all political negotiations connected with the operations of
his army ; and, in a proclamation under date the 80th July 1803,
~was farther pleased to order and command all civil servants, and
military officers, subject to the authority of the presidency of Fort
William, “ to pay an immediate and prompt obedience to zll such
“ requisitions or orders as they might receive from the commander in
chief;” declaring at the same time, ¢ that such requisitions or
“ orders would be considered as full and sufficient vouchers for any
advance or disbursement of money which such requisitions or orders
should authorise.” '

"

&

-

With a view to occupy a position favourable to the carly commence-
ment of military operations, in the event of hostilities with Scindiah,
the
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the commander in chief, general Lake, marched from Cawnpore on
the Tth of August, and reached the vicinity of Coel on the 28th of
the same month.

On the 20th of August the commander in chief, received a letter
from colonel Collum, ﬁhted,Camp near Julgong on the 1st of August,
in which that officer states his intention to repair to Aurungabad
without delay ; and adds, that he shou]d have marched from Julgong
on the morning of the 3lst of July, had not the roads been ren-
dered impassable by a very heavy and incessant fall of rain since the
night of the 80th of July. The commander in chief also received,
on the 26th of August, a dispatch from the governor general, dated
on the 16th of August, authorising him to prosecute the most active
operations against the forces of Scindiah, monsieur Perron, and their
allies, unless the commander in chief should have received certain
intelligence of the conclusion of pacific engagements between major-,
general Wellesley and Scindiah, or should have received from major-
general Wellesley a direct expression of his desire that general Lake
should not prosecute hostilities.

On the receipt of colonel Collins’s letter of the 1st of August,
general Lake was of opinion that the refusal of the confederated
chieftains to comply with general Wellesley’s requisition .amounted
to a positive declaration ‘of war, and conceived himself under these
circumstances to be authorised (by the tenor of the governor general’s
instructions, prior to the dispatch of the 16th of August) to com-
mence hostilities without waiting for further advices from the Dekan.
The justice of prosecuting immediate hostilities against Scindiah and
the rajah of Berar was unquestionable ; and the letters of the gover-
nor general to those chieftains, together with the declarations of
colonel Collins, had distinctly apprised Scindiah and the rajah  of

: Berar
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Berar of the probable conseque.nces of their further evasions of the
just and reasonable propositions of the British government, ¢ that
% they should separate their armies, and refwgm.fb their menacing position
“on ?be frantzer of fbe nizam'’s ferritorics.”

Under these circumstances, the comma.nder in chief, by the direct
order of the governor general above stated, on the 29th of August
1803 moved into the Marhatta territories, with the intention of
attacking monsieur Perron’s force, which had been assembled at a
short distance from the fortress of Ally-Ghur.  The army reached
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this point about seven o’clock in the morning of the 29th. The enemy

immediately struck their tents, and the whole of their cavalry drew
up on the plain close to the fort of Ally-Ghur.

 Monsieur Perron’s position was strong and favourable for repelling
the attack of the British army. His front was completely covered
by an extensive swamp, which in some parts is not fordable; the
right flank was ‘protected by. the fort of Ally-Ghur; and his left
derived considerable strength from the nature of ‘the ground on-that
side, and from the position of some villages which weré occupied
by ‘parties of his troops. = Monsieur Perron’s force was estimated to
amount to about fifteen thousand horse, of whiech from four to five

thousand were regular cavalry.

The commander in. chief having determined to turn the left lank
of monsieur Perron’s force, the British cavalry were formed into two

lines, and advanced to the attack supported by the infantry in three.

and ‘four lines, according as the confined mature of ground would
permit. During the advance of the cavalry, the enemy kept up 2
smart fire of matchlocks from a village which the' cavalry had to pass;

and a large column of the enemy’s cavalry, headed by a regular
2 . corps

Vide Plan No.
8, in the Ap-
pendix,



1803.

Vide Appendix
D. ¥

Vide Plan Mo,
4, in the Ap-
Jpendix.

88

corps of horse, approached sufficiently near to enable the British
cavalry to fire a few rounds from their galloper guns, which succeeded
in forcing the enemy to retire. The excellent front displayed by the
British cavalry, and the regular and determined advance of the whole
army, so completely overawed monsieur Perron and his troops, that
they retired as fast as the British troops advanced, and finally quitted
the field without venturing to risk an engagement.

Several attempts were made to charge the enemty’s cavalry, but
the rapidity of their retreat prevented the possibility of effecting
this desirable object. The commander in chief was with the British
cavalry the whole day, and charged in person at the head of the 27th
dragoons.

Although the early retreat of mnonsieur Perron’s force prevented
the commander in chief from bringing him to a general engagement,
the operations of the 29th of August were attended with beneficial
consequences, in establishing the superiority of our arms over the
power of the enemy: monsieur Perron’s reputation received a pow=-
erful shock from the events of that day; and the defection of several
of his confederates demonstrated at once their doubt of his power,

- and their conviction of our superiority.

After the action the commander in chief took possession of the

town of Coel, and the army encamped to the northward of it, between
the town and the fort of Ally-Ghur.

This fort is of singular strength: it has a broad and deep ditch*,

* From one hundred to two hundred feat in breadth, and thirty-two feet in depth ; of
which there are always ten feet of water.

5 with
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with a fine glacis, and the country for a mile round is levelled, and
completely exposed in every point to the fire of the fort. There is
only one entrance, which is very intricate, and over a narrow cause-
way, under which the enemy had commenced a mine, but had
omitted to construct a drawbridge ; and thus our troops were enabled
to pass the ditch on the causeway, and immediately to assail the body
of the place. '

As soon as the army had taken up its ground near Coel, general
Lake summoned monsicur Pedron, the commander of Ally-Ghur, to
surrender the fort; but after several unsuccessful efforts to save the
effsion of blood, and to persuade the garrison to evacuate the place,
general Lake found himself compelled to adopt more decisive mea-
sures, and determined to attempt to carry the fort by assault, rather
than by the slower operations of a regular siege.

In conformity to this resolution, the fort was stormed on the morn-
ing of the 4th of September. The honourable lieutenant-colonel
Monsén commanded the storming party, consisting of a detachment

of artillery with two twelve-pounders, four companies of his majesty’s o

76th regiment, the first battalion 4th regiment native infantry, four
companies of the second battalion 17th regiment, reinforced after-
wards by the second battalion 4th regiment native infantry.

Licutenant-colonel Monson conducted the attack with the utmost
degree of gallantry, judgment, skill, and fortitude. The troops
moved down to within six hundred yards of the sortie of the fort
about three o'clock A. M. There was only one passage across the
ditch into the fort, and this road was followed by lieutenant-colonel
Monson,

N . After
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After waiting until the hour fixed for the assault (half past four
o'clock), the storming party moved on (under cover of a heavy fire
from the British batteries erected for the purpose), and arrived within
one hundred yards of the fort before they were perceived: as soon,
however, as' colonel Monson saw that he was discovered, he endea-
voured, by pushing on with the two flank compames of the 76th, to
enter the fort along with the guard stationed outside of the gates,
behind a strong breastwork which covered the entrance.  The colonel
succeeded in passing the breastwork, but found the first gate shut.
Two ladders were immediately applied, on which major Macleod of
the 76th regiment, with two grenadiers, attempted to mount; but
they were forced to desist by a most formidable row of pikemen,
who menaced every assailant with certain destruction. A twelve-
pounder was then brought up ; but some time elapsed before it could
be placed opposite the gate, which was situated in an inconvenient
direction near the flank of a bastion. Four or five rounds were fired
before any effect was produced on the gate; and during this interval,
which lasted about twenty minutes, the storming party was exposed
to a most severe and raking fire of grape and wall-pieces and match-
locks. Our principal loss was sustained at this place. Colonel Mon-~
son was wounded here by a pike, discharged, it is thought, from a
gun: at this spot were also killed the four grenadier officers and the
adjutant of the 76th regiment, with lieutenant Turton of the 4th regi-
ment native infantry.

As soon as the first gate was blown open, the troops advanced in a
circular direction (round a strong bastion of masonry, along a narrow
road, and through two gateways, which were easily forced) to a fourth
gateway leading into the body of the place; during which time they
were much annoyed by a heavy cross firein every direction. It was a
work of great difficulty before the twelve-pounder could be brought up,

and
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and when it arrived the gate was too strongly fastened to be forced.
Major Macleod, however, pushed through the wicket, and entered the
fort; after which very little opposition ensued, and the fort was com-
pletely carried. The general defence of this fort was very vigorous,
and lasted for one hour; and our loss was extremely severe. The
French commandant, M. Pedron, was taken prisoner. As soon as the
British troops had entered the body of the place, the garrison endea-
voured to escape in every direction: many jumped into the ditch,
others were drowned. About two thousand were killed ; some sur-
réndered, and were permitted to quit the fort by the commander in
chief, who was close to the fort observing the result of his bold and

well-planned attack.

A large quantity of stores and ordnance was found in the fort,
with some tumbrils of money, which the storming party divided on

the spot.

The fall of the fort of Ally-Ghur was attended with the acqui-
sition of most of the military stores belonging to the French party.
This was the place of residence of monsieur Perron, and it was the

grand dep6t of his military stores.

The necessary arrangements for the security of the fort of Ally-
Chur and for the march of the army having been completed on
the 7Tth of September, the commander in chief moved on that day to-
wards Delhi. A battalion of sepoys was left in Ally-Ghur, and a
drawbridge applied to the gateway : the place may now be considered
as impregnable to any native power.

On the Tth of September the commander in chief received a letter

under date the 5th of September from monsieur Perron, informing
N 2 the

1803,

September 7.

M. Perron so- .

licits the pro-
tection of the
British govera-
meat,



1803,

September 8.
Fort of Koor-
jah abandoned

y the enemy.

92

the commander in chicf that he had resigned the service of Dowlut
Rao Scindiah, and requesting permission to pass with his family, pro-
perty, and the officers of his suite, to Lucknow, through the territory
of the honourable company and of the Nawaub vizier.  Monsieur
Perron also applied to the commander in chief for a sufficient escort, to
be composed either of British troops or his own body guard.  Gene-
ral Lake immediately complied with monsieur Perron’s request, and
permitted monsieur Perron to proceed through the British territories
attended by a British officer, who had been appointed to meet mon-
sieur Perron on the frontier, and to conduct him to Lucknow. Ge-
neral Lake also permitted monsieur Perron to be escorted by his own
body guard, and provided for the reception of monsieur Perron in the
company’s territories and those of the Nawaub vizier with every mark
of respect and honour.

On the 8th of September the army reached Koorjah, a fort of some
strength, about thirty miles distant from Ally-Ghur, which had been
evacuated by the garrison on receiving the intelligence of the fall of that
fortress. Itis also probable that the capture of Ally-Ghur was one of
the causes of M. Perron’s determination to solicit the protection of the
British government. M. Perron, however, stated.that his reason for
retiring proceeded from his having received intelligence that his suc-
cessor had been appointed, and was actually on his way to take posses-
sion of his new charge. M. Perron also observed, that the treachery and
ingratitude of his European officers convinced him that further resist-
ance to the British arms was useless.

About this period the commander in chief received intelligence of
the surrender to the enemy of a detachment of five companies of sepoys
with one gun, under the command of lieutenant-colonel Coningham at
Shekoabad.  This small body of troops was attacked on the 2d of
September by a numerous detachment of cavalry under the command

: ) 4 - of
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of a Frenchman named Fleury, and succeeded in compelling the enemy
to retreat; but being again attacked on the 4th of September by the
same superior force, and having nearly expended its ammunition, the
party of British troops capitulated to the enemy. On receipt of this
intelligence, the commander in chief immediately detached one regi-
ment of European and two regiments of native cavalry, under colonel
Macan, to- join colonel Vandeleur, who was in the neighbourhood of
Futty-Ghur, with the 8th regiment light dragoons and a detach-
ment of infantry with a convoy for the army. The 2d brigade of
infantry under colonel Clarke was also ordered to reinforce colonel
Vandeleur’s detachment; but before these two parties could arrive at
the place of their destination, the enemy recrossed the Jumna with
great precipitation, and afterwards dispersed. = Colonel Macan’s de-
tachment reached the fort of Firozeabad on the Tth of September,
which the enemy immediately abandoned, leaving behind them nine
guns, and several of the enemy’s troops, who had been wounded in the
late affair of Shekoabad. o This is the only predatory incursion which
the enemy has attempted upon the company’s frontiers. -

The army under general Lake reached Secundra on the 9th of
September. =~ On the morning of the 10th the commander in chief
made a short march to the west of Secundra, and on the 11th a march
of eighteen miles beyond Soorajepoor. = During the march, intelligence
was received that monsieur Louis Bourquien had crossed the Jumna
in the night, with sixteen battalions of regular infantry, six thousand
cavalry, and a considerable train of ordnance, for the purpose of at-
tacking the commander in chief, :

The British army reached its ground of encampment near the Jehnah
Nullah (about six miles from Delhi) at eleven o'clock. The troops
were much fatigued with the length of the march, and the heat of the

weather; and the tents were scarcely pitched when the enemy appeared
in
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iq such force in front as to oblige the grand guard and advanced
picquets to turn out. The number of the enemy continuing to increase,
the commander in chief proceeded in person to reconnoitre them with
the swhole of the cavalry (three regiments), and found the enemy drawn
up on rising ground in order of battle, and in full force. Their
position was strong, each flank being covered by a swamp, beyond
which was posted the cavalry. Their numerous artillery covered their
front, which was further protected by a line of intrenchments; their
front was the only direction in which the enemy could be attacked.
As the British cavalry approached, the enemy began a very heavy

cannonade.

As soon as the commander in chief had reconnoitred the enemy’s
position, orders were sent to camp for the infantry and artillery to join
the cavalry. The line was ordered to fall in without delay, and move
to the front by columns of grand divisions from each battalion.  The
camp was left standing ; the advanced picqsiets, increased by a part
of the 17th regiment native infantry, were brought in for its protection.
The whole of the British troops who were engaged in this memorable
action were his majesty’s 76th regiment, seven battalions of sepoys, the
artillery, the 27th dragoons, and two regiments of native cavalry, and
amounted in number to about four thousand five hundred men. The
number of the enemy amounted to about thirteen thousand infantry,
and six thousand cavalry; in all nineteen thousand men.

Notwithstanding the alacrity and expedition with which the British
troops got under arms, one hour elapsed before the infantry could join
the cavalry, which had advanced about two miles in front, and was
exposed to a severe and well-directed cannonade, which occasioned a
considerable loss of men and horses. During this interval the com-
mander in chief’s horse was shot under him.

1 Finding
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Finding that it would be difficult to defeat the enemy in their
actual position, general Lake determined to make a feint, by which
the enemy should be induced to quit their intrenchments, and to ad-
vance on the plain. With this view the British cavalry was ordered to
retire, both for the putpose of drawing the enemy from his strong po-
sition and of covering the advance of the British infantry: this retro-
grade movement was performed with the greatest order and steadiness,
antil the British infantry had effected their junction with the cavalry ;
when the cavalry immediately opened from the centre, and allowed the

infantry to pass on in front.

As soon as the cavalry began to retire, the enemy, conceiving this
movement to be a n_aal retreat, immediately quitted their strong posi-
tion, and advanced with tlie whole of their guns, shouting, and exhi-
biting every demonstration of perfect confidence in superior prowess.
They halted, however,on seeing the British infantry,who were instantly
formed into one line, with the cavalry in a second line, about forty
yards in the rear of the right wing of the infantry. The whole of the
British force then advanced towards the enemy, the commander in
chief in person leading his majesty’s 76th regiment. Notwithstanding
a tremendous fire of round, grape, and chain shot, the’ troops led by
general Lake advanced with the greatest bravery and steadiness, and
without taking their musquets from their shoulders, unul they had
reached within a hundred paces of the enemy, when the enemy com-
menced a heavy fire of geape from all their artillery. Orders were
instantly given to charge the enemy with bayonets: the whole British
line fired a volley, and, with their illustrious commander in chief at
their head, rushed on with such impetuosity, that the enemy gave way
and fled in every direction. . As soon as the British troops halted after
the charge, general Lake, with his accustomed judgment, ordered the
line to break into columns of companies; which manceuvre being

effected, the British cavalry (European and native) charged through the
intervals

1803,



1505.

The official de-
tails of the bat-
tle of Delhi,
and the general
orders issued
onthis occasion
are contained

in Appendix D.

96

intervals with their galloper guns, and completed the victory by pur-
suing the enemy to the banks of the Jumna, and driving vast numbers
into the middle of the river. The galloper guns attached to the cavalry
were opened with considerable effect upon the fugitives in this situ-
ation. The commander in chief headed in person the 76th regiment,
which exhibited under such a glorious example the most eminent
proofs of valour and discipline.

While these operations took place to the right, under the immediate
direction of the commander in chief, the left wing under major-general
St. John attacked the enemy with great vigour, and the success of the
British arms was complete in every point.  The enemy left the whole
of their artillery, sizty-cight picces of ordnance, and thirty-seven tum-
brils laden with ammunition, in our possession;twenty-four tumbrils
laden with ammunition were blown up in the field of battle; exclusive
of which, many tumbrils and ammunition carriages were left by the
enemy in the Jumna, and in the Jehnah Nullah. Two tumbrils con-
taining treasure were also taken on the field of battle.

The loss of the enemy was very considerable, and has been esti-
mated to have amounted to three thousand men. The exertions of
the British army were proportionate to the brilliant result of this glo-
rious victory, and the whole army, with the commander in chief, was
under arms for seventeen hours. After the action, the army took up
fresh ground nearer the river., .

The battle was fought within view of the minarets of Delhi, and
the whole army encamped the next day close to the Jumna river,, op-
posite to that city. The unfortunate emperor SHAH AULUM sent to
general Lake immediately after the action, to express his anxious desire
to place his person and authority under the protection of the vic-

_ torious arms of the British government.

On
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-7/On the 14¢h'of September the army began to cross the Jumna; and
 on the same day monsicur Bourquien, who commanded the forces of
the enemy in the late action of the 11th of September, together with
four other French oﬁcers, surrendered themselves as prisoners to ge-
nerzl Lake.

His excehency the commander in chief had the honour to pay his
first visit to his majesty Shah Aulum on the 16th of September; and
to congratulate his'majesty on his emancipation from the control of
the Fr'e-nCh faeﬁan which had 'so long oppressed and degraded him.

vae been reeefved from private sources of mtelhgence, it appears that
lis majesty was graciously pleased to direct his eldest son and heir-ap-
parent, the pririce Mirza Akbar Shah, to conduct the commander in
chief to his royal presénce. The prince was to have arrived at the
- commander in chief’s tent at twelve o’clock, but did not reach the
British: camp until half past three o'clock P, M. : by the time his royal
highness had' been received, remounted on his elephant, and the whole
cavaleade formied; it ‘was half past four o'clock. 'The distance being
five miles, the commander in chief did not reach the palace at Delhi
wntil sunset. ‘The crowd in the city was extraordinary ; and it was
with some difficulty that the cavalcade could make its way to the pa-
Yce. The conrts of the palace were full of people, anxious to witness
the deliverarice of their sovereign from a state of degradation and
bondage. At length the commander in chief was ushered into the
royal presence, and found the unfortunate and venerable emperor—
oppressed by the accumulated calamities of old age, degraded authority,
extreme poverty, and loss of sight —seated under a small tattered ca-
nopy, the remnant of his royal state, with every external appearance of
the misery of his condition.

(6] It
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It is impossible to describe the impression which general Lake'’s con-
duct on this interesting occasion has made on the minds of the inha-
bitants of Delhi, and of all the mussulmans who have had an opportu-
nity of being made acquainted with the occurrences of the 16th of
September 1803. In the metaphorical language of Asia, the native
news-writers, who describe this extraordinary scene, have declared that
his majesty Shah Aulum recovered his sight from excess of joy. In
addition to many other marks of royal favour and condescension, the
emperor was graciously pleased to confer on general Lake the second

title in the empire*.

The result of the spirited and judicious operations at Coel on the
29th of August, of the gallant assault of Ally-Ghur on the 4th, and
of the glorious battle of Delhi on the 11th of September, deeply affected
the French influence and authority, and secured to the British power
the possession of the doab of the Ganges and Jumna.

The French officers, deprived of authority, and finding themselves
the objects of just indignation to the country which they had governed,
were compelled to solicit the protection of the British government,
while the conquered country (rejoicing in the change of masters, and
deeply impressed with a just sense of the humane conduct and orderly
behaviour of the British troops, of the protection offered by general
Lake to the persons and property of the inhabitants, and of the mild
treatment which the British government extends to all its subjects)
regarded the British troops as friends and deliverers.

* The Persian titles conferred on general Lake are, Sumsam u clowla.h ashghah ul
mulk, khan dowran khan, general Gerard Lake bahadur, futtek jung ; signifying in Eng+
hish, € The sword of the state, the hero of the land, the lord of the age; and the victorious in

war.”

These
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These important victories rescued the unfortunate emperor Shah
Aulum from the power of his oppressors. = By the success of our arms
interesting purposes of humanity were accomplished ; and so far as
* this object is regarded in a political point of view, his majesty Shah
Aulum being placed under the protection of the British government,
110 other power can now avail itself of the weight and influence which

1803.

the emperor’s name must €ver possess amongst the mussulman inha- -

bitants Qf Hindostan.

The attention of the governor general is now ditected to the forma-
tion of a permanent arrangement for the future maintenance of the
dignity and’ comfort of his imperial majesty, and of the royal family,
on principles calculated to provide for those desirable objects with the
atmost benefit to the reputation of British justice and liberality ; and
to secure the important advantages to be derived from the connexion,
which will now be renewed upon permanent principles, between the
royal house of Timur and the British power in India. The governor
general has also given directions to provide for the nobility and the great
officers of state at Delhi, (whose fortunes have been destroyed by the
successful usurpation of Scindiah and of the French adventurers,) on
principles similar to those which in the year 1799, after the fall of the
fortress of Seringapatam, induced the governor general to make a
Jiberal and permanent provision for the principal officers and nobility

of Tippoo Sultaun.

Having made the necessary arrangements for his march from Delhi,
the commander in chief moved from that city towards Agra on the 24th
of September : lieutenant-colonel Ochterlony, deputy adjutant-general
of the honourable company’s army, 